South Australia

Statutes Amendment (Arts Agencies Governance and Other Matters) Bill 2010

A BILL FOR

An Act to amend various Acts in relation to the governance of Arts agencies; and for other purposes.

Contents

Part 1—Preliminary

- 2 Commencement
- 3 Amendment provisions

Part 2—Amendment of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971

- 4 Amendment of section 4-Interpretation
- 5 Substitution of heading to Part 2
- Substitution of Part 2 Division 1 6

Division 1—Establishment of Trust

5 Establishment of Trust

Division 1A-Membership, proceedings, etc

- Composition of Trust 6
- 7 Conditions of membership
- 8 Proceedings
- 9 Validity of acts
- 10 Ministerial control

Division 1B—Committees and delegation

- Committees 11
- 12 Delegation

Division 1C-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

13 Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

Division 1D-Common seal and execution of documents

14 Common seal and execution of documents

- Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 2
- 8 Repeal of section 19

7

- 9 Amendment of section 20-Functions
- Insertion of section 20A 10
- 20A Powers

Division 2A—Staffing arrangements

11 Repeal of Part 2 Division 3 and Part 3

Division 3—Financial matters and annual reports

- 23 Annual budget
- 24 Accounts and audit
- 25 Annual report
- 12 Substitution of heading to Part 4

Part 3—Transfer of Trust property

- 13 Redesignation of section 29—Transfer of Trust property 14
 - Substitution of Part 5

Part 4—Authorised officers

- 27 Appointment of authorised officers
- 28 Powers of authorised officers
- 29 Hindering etc authorised officers

Part 5—Official insignia

- 30 Interpretation
- Official titles and logos 31

Unlawful use of official insignia 33 Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia Part 6—Miscellaneous Liability for council rates 34 35 Gifts etc 36 Ministerial delegation 37 Approvals by Treasurer 38 Regulations Part 3—Amendment of Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998 Amendment of section 3—Interpretation 15 16 Substitution of heading to Part 3 Part 3—Functions and powers of Corporation 17 Amendment of section 6—Powers Substitution of heading to Part 4 18 Part 4-Management of Corporation 19 Insertion of heading to Part 4 Division 1A Division 1A—Membership, proceedings etc 20 Substitution of sections 8 to 11 8 Composition of board Conditions of membership 9 Amendment of section 12-Proceedings 21 22 Substitution of section 13 Validity of acts 13 14 Ministerial control 23 Repeal of Part 4 Division 2 24 Amendment and redesignation of section 17-Committees 25 Substitution of section 18 16 Delegation 26 Insertion of Part 4 Divisions 3A and 3B Division 3A-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 17 Division 3B-Common seal and execution of documents Common seal and execution of documents 18 27 Insertion of section 18A Annual budget 18A 28 Substitution of Part 5 Part 5—Authorised officers 21 Appointment of authorised officers 22 Powers of authorised officers 23 Hindering etc authorised officers Part 6—Official insignia 24 Interpretation 25 Official titles and logos 26 Unlawful use of official insignia Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia 27 Part 7—Miscellaneous 28 Gifts etc 29 Ministerial delegation

- 30 Approvals by Treasurer
- 31 Regulations

Part 4—Amendment of Art Gallery Act 1939

- 29 Insertion of heading to Part 1
- 30 Amendment of section 3—Interpretation
- 31 Insertion of headings to Part 2 and Part 2 Division 1
 - Division 1—Establishment of Art Gallery Board
- 32 Amendment of section 4—Establishment of Art Gallery Board
- 33 Substitution of sections 5 to 13

Division 2-Membership, proceedings etc

- 5 Composition of board
- 6 Conditions of membership
- 7 Proceedings
- 8 Validity of acts
- 9 Ministerial control

Division 3—Committees and delegation

- 10 Committees
- 11 Delegation

Division 4-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

12 Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

Division 5-Common seal and execution of documents

- 13 Common seal and execution of documents
- 34 Insertion of heading to Part 2 Division 6
- 35 Amendment of section 16—Functions
- 36 Substitution of sections 16A and 17
 - 17 Powers
- 37 Substitution of sections 18 to 29
 - Division 7—Staff
 - 18 Staff
 - Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports
 - 19 Annual budget
 - 20 Accounts and audit
 - 21 Annual report

Part 3—Authorised officers

- 22 Appointment of authorised officers
- 23 Powers of authorised officers
- 24 Hindering etc authorised officers

Part 4—Official insignia

- 25 Interpretation
- 26 Official titles and logos
- 27 Unlawful use of official insignia
- 28 Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia

Part 5—Miscellaneous

- 29 Gifts etc
- 30 Ministerial delegation
- 31 Approvals by Treasurer
- 32 Regulations

Part 5—Amendment of Carrick Hill Trust Act 1985

- 38 Substitution of sections 3 and 4
- 3 Interpretation
- 39 Substitution of Parts 2 and 3

Part 2—Carrick Hill Trust

Division 1-Establishment of Trust

4 Establishment of Trust

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

- 5 Composition of Trust
- 6 Conditions of membership
- 7 Proceedings
- 8 Validity of acts
- 9 Ministerial control

Division 3—Committees and delegation

- 10 Committees
- 11 Delegation

Division 4-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

12 Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

13 Common seal and execution of documents

Division 6—Functions and powers of Trust

- 14 Functions
- 15 Powers

Division 7-Staff

16 Staff

Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports

- 17 Annual budget
- 18 Accounts and audit
- 19 Annual report

Part 3—Authorised officers

- 20 Appointment of authorised officers
- 21 Powers of authorised officers
- 22 Hindering etc authorised officers

Part 4—Official insignia

- 23 Interpretation
- 24 Official titles and logos
- 25 Unlawful use of official insignia
- 26 Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia

Part 5—Miscellaneous

- 27 Governor may place Crown land under control of Trust
- 28 Gifts etc
- 29 Ministerial delegation
- 30 Approvals by Treasurer
- 31 Regulations

Part 6—Amendment of History Trust of South Australia Act 1981

- 40 Substitution of section 4
- 2 Interpretation
- 41 Amendment and redesignation of section 6—Operation of certain other Acts preserved
- 42 Substitution of heading to Part 2

Part 2—History Trust of South Australia

43 Substitution of Part 2 Divisions 1 to 3

Divisio	on 1—Establishment of Trust
4	Establishment of Trust
Divisio	on 2—Membership, proceedings etc
5 6 7 8 9	Composition of Trust Conditions of membership Proceedings Validity of acts Ministerial control
Divisio	on 2A—Committees and delegation
10 11	Committees Delegation
Divisio	on 2B—Common seal and execution of documents
12	Common seal and execution of documents
Divisio	on 3—Functions and powers of Trust
13 14 Substit	Functions Powers ution of heading to Part 2 Division 4
Divisio	on 4—Staffing arrangements
	gnation of section 16—Staffing arrangements ution of Part 2 Division 5
Divisio	on 5—Financial matters and annual reports
16 17 18	Annual budget Accounts and audit Annual report ution of Part 3
Part 3-	—Authorised officers
19 20 21	Appointment of authorised officers Powers of authorised officers Hindering etc authorised officers
Part 4-	—Official insignia
22 23 24 25	Interpretation Official titles and logos Unlawful use of official insignia Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia
Part 5-	—Miscellaneous

iscellaneous Part 3

- 26 Governor may place Crown land under control of Trust
- 27 Gifts etc
- 28 Ministerial delegation
- Approvals by Treasurer Regulations 29
- 30

Part 7—Amendment of Libraries Act 1982

- 48 Substitution of section 5
- 5 Interpretation
- 49 Substitution of heading to Part 2

Part 2-Objectives of Act

- 50 Repeal of heading to Part 2 Division 1
- Amendment of section 7—Objectives of Act 51
- 52 Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 2

44

45

46

Part 3-Libraries Board of South Australia Division 1-Continuation of Libraries Board of South Australia Amendment of section 8-Continuation of Libraries Board of South Australia Substitution of sections 9 to 13 Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc 9 Composition of Board 10 Conditions of membership Proceedings 11 Validity of acts 12 13 Ministerial control Division 2A—Committees and delegation Committees 13A Delegation 13B Division 2B-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 13C Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act Division 2C—Common seal and execution of documents 13D Common seal and execution of documents Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 3 Amendment of section 14—Functions Substitution of sections 15 to 20 15 Powers Division 4-Staff Staff 16 Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 5 Division 5-Financial matters and annual reports Insertion of sections 18 to 20 Annual budget 18 19 Accounts and audit 20 Annual report Insertion of Parts 3 and 3A Part 3—Authorised officers 23 Appointment of authorised officers Powers of authorised officers 24 25 Hindering etc authorised officers Part 3A—Official insignia 26 Interpretation 27 Official titles and logos 28 Unlawful use of official insignia Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia 29 Substitution of section 35 Copies of certain material to be lodged with Board and Parliamentary Librarian 35 Repeal of sections 37 to 39

- Amendment and redesignation of section 40-Conditions on which library materials are 63 to be lent etc
- Insertion of section 38 64
- 38 Gifts etc

53 54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

- 65 Substitution of sections 41 to 43
 - Ministerial delegation 39
 - Approvals by Treasurer 40
 - 41 Regulations

Part 8-	-Ame	ndment of South Australian Country Arts Trust Act 1992		
66 67	Amendment of section 3—Interpretation Substitution of heading to Part 2			
	Part 2-	-South Australian Country Arts Trust		
	Division	1—Establishment of Trust		
68	Substitu	tion of sections 5 to 12		
	Division	2—Membership, proceedings etc		
	5 6 7 8 9	Composition of Trust Conditions of membership Proceedings Validity of acts Ministerial control		
	Division	3—Committees and delegation		
	10 11	Committees Delegation		
	Division	4-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act		
	12	Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act		
	Division	5—Common seal and execution of documents		
	12A	Common seal and execution of documents		
	Division	6—Functions and powers of Trust		
	12B 12C	Functions Powers		
69	Insertior	n of heading to Division 7		
	Division	7—Staffing arrangements		
70	Substitu	tion of sections 14 to 19		
	Division	8—Financial matters and annual reports		
71	14 15 16 Substitu	Annual budget Accounts and audit Annual report tion of Part 4		
	Part 3–	-Authorised officers		
	17 18 19	Appointment of authorised officers Powers of authorised officers Hindering etc authorised officers		
	Part 4-	-Official insignia		
	20 21 22 23	Interpretation Official titles and logos Unlawful use of official insignia Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia		
	Part 5-	-Miscellaneous		
	24 25 26 27	Gifts etc Ministerial delegation Approvals by Treasurer Regulations		

Part 9—Amendment of South Australian Film Corporation Act 1972

- 72 Amendment of section 4—Interpretation
- 73 Substitution of heading to Part 2

	Part 2—South Australian Film Corporation
74	Substitution of sections 5 to 8
	Division 1—Establishment of Corporation
	5 Establishment of Corporation
	Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc
	6 Composition of Corporation 7 Conditions of membership
	7 Conditions of membership8 Proceedings
	8A Validity of acts8B Ministerial control
	Division 3—Committees and delegation
	8C Committees
	8D Delegation
	Division 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act
	8E Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act
	Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents
	8F Common seal and execution of documents
	Division 6—Staffing Arrangements
75 76	Amendment of section 9—Appointment of Chief Executive Officer Insertion of heading to Part 2 Division 7
	Division 7—Functions and powers of Corporation
77	Amendment of section 10—Functions
78	Substitution of section 11
79	11 Powers Substitution of sections 12 to 24
	Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports
	12 Annual budget
	13 Accounts and audit14 Annual report
	Part 3—Authorised officers
	15 Appointment of authorised officers
	Powers of authorised officersHindering etc authorised officers
	Part 4—Official insignia
	18 Interpretation
	19 Official titles and logos
	 20 Unlawful use of official insignia 21 Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia
80	Redesignation of Part 6—Miscellaneous
81	Insertion of sections 22 to 24
	22 Gifts etc23 Ministerial delegation
	24 Approvals by Treasurer
82	Substitution of sections 30 to 33 30 Regulations
Part 1	0—Amendment of South Australian Museum Act 1976
83	Substitution of section 5
	2 Interpretation

- 2 Interpretation
- 84 Substitution of Parts 2 to 3

Part 2-Museum Board

Division 1-Continuation of Museum Board

3 Continuation of Museum Board

Division 2-Membership, proceedings etc

- Composition of Board 4
- 5 Conditions of membership
- 6 Proceedings
- 7 Validity of acts
- 8 Ministerial control

Division 3—Committees and delegation

- 9 Committees 10
- Delegation

Division 4—Common seal and execution of documents

Common seal and execution of documents 11

Division 5-Functions and powers

- 12 Functions
- 13 Powers

Division 6-Staff

14 Staff

Division 7-Financial matters and annual reports

- 15 Annual budget
- 16 Accounts and audit
- Annual report 17

Part 3—Authorised officers

- 18 Appointment of authorised officers
- 19 Powers of authorised officers
- 20 Hindering etc authorised officers

Part 4—Meteorites

- 21 Application of Part
- Property in meteorites vests in Board 22
- 23 Duty to notify Board of newly found meteorites
- 24 Powers of authorised officers in relation to meteorites

Part 5—Official insignia

- 25 Interpretation
- 26 Official titles and logos
- 27 Unlawful use of official insignia
- Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia 28

Part 6-Miscellaneous

- Gifts etc 29
- 30 Ministerial delegation
- 31 Approvals by Treasurer
- 32 Regulations

Part 11—Amendment of State Opera of South Australia Act 1976

- 85 Substitution of section 4
 - Interpretation 2
- 86 Substitution of Part 2

Division	n 1—Establishment of State Opera		
3	Establishment of State Opera		
Divisio	n 2—Functions and powers of State Opera		
4	Functions		
5 6	Powers Special power to acquire land compulsorily		
	-Management of State Opera		
	1—Establishment of Board		
7	Establishment of Board		
Divisio	n 2—Membership, proceedings, etc		
8	Composition of Board		
9	Conditions of membership		
10 11	Proceedings Validity of acts		
11	Ministerial control		
Divisio	a 3—Committees and delegation		
13 14	Committees Delegation		
Division	n 4-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) A		
15	Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act		
Division	n 5—Common seal and execution of documents		
16	Common seal and execution of documents		
Divisio	n 6—Financial matters and annual reports		
17	Annual budget		
18	Accounts and audit		
19 Substitu	Annual report tion of heading to Part 3		
	n 7—Staffing arrangements		
	of section 22		
	tion of Parts 4 and 5		
Part 4–	–Authorised officers		
22	Appointment of authorised officers		
23	Powers of authorised officers		
24	Hindering etc authorised officers		
	–Official insignia		
25 26	Interpretation Official titles and logos		
27	Unlawful use of official insignia		
28	Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia		
Part 6–	-Miscellaneous		
29	Gifts etc		
30 31	Ministerial delegation Approvals by Treasurer		
32	Regulations		

Part 12—Amendment of State Theatre Company of South Australia Act 1972

- 90 Substitution of section 4
 - 2 Interpretation

87

91	Substitu	tion of Part 2				
	Part 2–	-State Theatre Company of South Australia				
	Division 1—Establishment of Company					
	3	Establishment of Company				
	Division	2—Functions and powers of Company				
	4	Functions				
	5	Powers				
	Part 3—Management of Company					
	Division	1—Management of Company				
	6	Establishment of Board				
	Division	2—Membership, proceedings etc				
	7	Composition of Board				
	8 9	Conditions of membership Proceedings				
	10	Validity of acts				
	11	Ministerial control				
	Division	a 3—Committees and delegation				
	12 13	Committees Delegation				
	Division	4-Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act				
	14	Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act				
	Division	5-Common seal and execution of documents				
	15	Common seal and execution of documents				
	Division	6—Financial matters and annual reports				
	16	Annual budget				
	17 18	Accounts and audit Annual report				
92		tion of heading to Part 3				
	Division	7—Staffing arrangements				
93	Repeal of	of section 22				
94	Repeal of Parts 5 and 6					
	Part 4—	-Authorised officers				
	22	Appointment of authorised officers				
	23 24	Powers of authorised officers Hindering etc authorised officers				
	Part 5-	-Official insignia				
	25	Interpretation				
	26 27	Official titles and logos Unlawful use of official insignia				
	27 28	Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia				
	Part 6–	-Miscellaneous				

- 29 Gifts etc
- 30 Ministerial delegation
- 31 Approvals by Treasurer
- 32 Regulations

Schedule 1-Statute law revision amendments and transitional provisions

Part 1—Preliminary

1 Amendment of Acts specified in Schedule 1

Part 2—Statute law revision amendment of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971

Part 3—Statute law revision amendment of Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

Part 4—Statute law revision amendment of Libraries Act 1982

Part 5—Statute law revision amendment of *South Australian Country Arts Trust Act 1992*

Part 6—Statute law revision amendment of *South Australian Film Corporation Act 1972*

Part 7—Statute law revision amendment of *State Opera of South Australia* Act 1976

Part 8—Statute law revision amendment of *State Theatre Company of South* Australia Act 1972

Part 9—Transitional provisions

Division 1-Membership of Boards etc

- 2 Membership of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust
- 3 Membership of board under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998
- 4 Membership of Art Gallery Board
- 5 Membership of Carrick Hill Trust
- 6 Membership of History Trust of South Australia
- 7 Membership of Libraries Board of South Australia
- 8 Membership of South Australian Country Arts Trust
- 9 Membership of South Australian Film Corporation
- 10 Membership of Museum Board
- 11 Membership of Board of Management under State Opera of South Australia Act 1976
- 12 Membership of Board of Governors under *State Theatre Company of South Australia* Act 1972

Division 2—Names, titles and logos declared under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

13 Names, titles and logos declared under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

Division 3—Authorised officers and authorised persons

- 14 Authorised persons under Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Regulations 2007
- 15 Authorised officers under Art Gallery Regulations 2002
- 16 Authorised persons under *Carrick Hill Trust Regulations 1999*
- 17 Authorised officers under *History Trust of South Australia Regulations 1995*

18 Authorised persons under *Libraries Regulations 1998*

19 Authorised officers under South Australian Museum Regulations 2004

The Parliament of South Australia enacts as follows:

Part 1—Preliminary

1—Short title

This Act may be cited as the *Statutes Amendment (Arts Agencies Governance and Other Matters) Act 2010.*

5 **2—Commencement**

This Act will come into operation on a day to be fixed by proclamation.

3—Amendment provisions

In this Act, a provision under a heading referring to the amendment of a specified Act amends the Act so specified.

10 Part 2—Amendment of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971

4—Amendment of section 4—Interpretation

Section 4(1)—delete subsection (1) and substitute:

(1) In this Act unless the contrary intention appears—

authorised officer—see Part 4;

15	<i>Centre</i> means the Adelaide Festival Centre and includes the Festival Theatre, a drama theatre, amphitheatre and experimental theatre and all associated amenities, conveniences, facilities, and works (including plazas, walks, parks, open spaces, roads and carparks);
20	<i>Council</i> means the council of The Corporation of the City of Adelaide;
	<i>employing authority</i> means the person designated by proclamation as being the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;
25	<i>Festival Theatre</i> means the Festival Theatre, buildings, furniture, instruments, fittings and equipment, works and conveniences authorised to be constructed and provided by the <i>Adelaide Festival Theatre Act 1964</i> ;
	member means member of the Trust;
	<i>occupy</i> , in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;
30	official insignia—see Part 5;
	<i>premises of the Trust</i> means premises owned or occupied by the Trust;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;

Trust means the Adelaide Festival Centre Trust established under this Act.

5—Substitution of heading to Part 2

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—Adelaide Festival Centre Trust

6—Substitution of Part 2 Division 1

10

15

20

25

5

Part 2 Division 1—delete Division 1 and substitute:

Division 1—Establishment of Trust

5-Establishment of Trust

- (1) The Adelaide Festival Centre Trust is established.
- (2) The Trust—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

Division 1A—Membership, proceedings, etc

6—Composition of Trust

- (1) The Trust will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—
 - (a) 1 will be nominated by the Council from the members, officers or employees of the Council; and
 - (b) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) If the Council fails to nominate a person within 6 weeks of a written request to do so from the Minister, the Governor may appoint a person nominated by the Minister and that person will be taken to have been duly appointed as a member.
- (3) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (4) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members nominated by the Minister to be the presiding member.

2	5
Э	Э

(5)	The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be the deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.
5 7—C	onditions of membership
(1)	A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
10 (2)	A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
(3)	The Governor may remove a member from office—
	(a) for misconduct; or
15	(b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
	(c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
20	 (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Trust's affairs or the Trust has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
(4)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
	(a) dies; or
	(b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
25	(c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
	(d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
	(e) ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Trust; or
30	(f) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Trust from 3 consecutive meetings of the Trust; or
	(g) is removed from office under subsection (3).
(5)	On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
35 (6)	A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.
8—P	roceedings
(1)	A quorum of the Trust consists of half of the total number of

	(2)	In the absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Trust, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
	(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Trust.
5	(4)	Each member present at a meeting of the Trust has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
10	(5)	A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Trust at which the participating members are present if—
		(a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Trust for the purpose; and
15		 (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.
	(6)	A proposed resolution of the Trust becomes a valid decision of the Trust despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Trust if—
20		(a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Trust; and
		 (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution.
25	(7)	The Trust must meet at least 6 times in each year.
	(8)	The Trust must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
	(9)	Subject to this Act, the Trust may determine its own procedures.
	(10)	Subject to the directions of the Trust and section 11, this section applies to a committee of the Trust in the same way as to the Trust.
30	9—Va	lidity of acts
		An act or proceeding of the Trust or a committee of the Trust is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.
	10—N	Iinisterial control
35	(1)	Subject to subsection (2), the Trust is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.
	(2)	No Ministerial direction can be given—
		(a) as to the artistic nature or content of—
40		(i) objects, works or collections held or promoted by the Trust; or

- (ii) performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust; or
- (b) as to the manner in which the Trust is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
- (c) as to any advice or recommendation that the Trust makes or is required to make to the Minister.

Division 1B—Committees and delegation

11—Committees

- (1) The Trust may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Trust thinks fit.
- (2) The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Trust and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Trust.
- (3) The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
 - (a) as determined by the Trust; and
 - (b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.

12—Delegation

- (1) The Trust may delegate a function or power of the Trust under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.

Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.

(5) It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.

10

15

20

25

30

35

(6) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Trust containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

Division 1C—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

13—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

A member of the Trust will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the *Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995* by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.

Division 1D—Common seal and execution of documents

14—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Trust must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Trust and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members.
- (2) The Trust may, by instrument under the common seal of the Trust, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Trust subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Trust may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Trust.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Trust if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Trust is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Trust by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Trust, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Trust was duly affixed to the document.

10

15

25

20

30

7—Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 2

Heading to Part 2 Division 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Division 2—Functions and powers of Trust

8—Repeal of section 19

Section 19-delete the section

9—Amendment of section 20—Functions

Section 20(1)—delete "Subject to this Act the Trust is charged with the responsibility (1)of—" and substitute:

The functions of the Trust are—

Section 20(1)(b)—delete "without limiting the generality of the foregoing," and (2)10 substitute:

to undertake

- Section 20(1)(e)—delete paragraph (e) and substitute: (3)
 - (e) to carry out any other functions assigned to the Trust under this or any other Act or by the Minister.
- (4) Section 20(1a)—delete the subsection and substitute:
 - (1a) However, the Trust must not extend the area of operation of its services under subsection (1)(c) without first consulting the Minister.
- Section 20(2)—delete subsection (2) (5)

10—Insertion of section 20A 20

After section 20 insert:

20A—Powers

- (1)The Trust has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under this or any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
- The Trust may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following (2)(subject to this Act):
 - engage agents, consultants or other contractors; (a)
 - enter into contracts or agreements with artists, performers, (b) entertainers and other persons involved in the arts, or employ such persons;
 - enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements; (c)
 - acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of (d) objects, works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural interest;
 - acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of-(e)
 - (i) licences; or

20

35

5

- 15

25

		(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
		(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or
		(iv)	any interest in such property;
5	(f)		grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;
	(g)	carry of	n advertising and promotional activities;
10	(h)	availab	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for ad liquor) at the Centre or other premises of the Trust;
	(i)	or activ	e and control admission to any venue for any events rities conducted or promoted by the Trust, and charge lect fees for admission to any such venue;
15	(j)	sponsor	or fee or other consideration advertising or rship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in tion with events or activities conducted or promoted Trust;
20	(k)	souven	or produce books, programs, brochures, films, irs and other information or things relating to events rities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
	(1)	program	supply food and drink (including liquor), books, ns, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in tion with events or activities conducted or promoted Trust;
25	(m)	•	r dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
	(n)	restrict, insignia	, control and make charges for the use of official a;
30	(0)	take ou the Stat	t policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of te;
	(p)	otherwi	bate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or ise be involved in the activities of, national or tional organisations or associations involved in the the promotion of the arts;
35	(q)	to enco	contribute towards prizes in competitions designed urage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity the State or make grants and give other assistance for urposes;
	(r)	enter in	to any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
40	(s)	other in	r acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or nterests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, r within or outside of the State;

- (t) borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
- (u) act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
- (3) However, the Trust must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(s) or (t).
- (4) The Trust may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

Division 2A—Staffing arrangements

11-Repeal of Part 2 Division 3 and Part 3

Part 2 Division 3 and Part 3—delete Part 2 Division 3 and Part 3 and substitute:

Division 3—Financial matters and annual reports

23—Annual budget

15	(1)	The Trust must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
	(2)	The budget must set out estimates of the Trust's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
	(3)	The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
20	(4)	The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
	(5)	Subject to subsection (6), the Trust must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
25	(6)	The Trust is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Trust by way of a testamentary or other gift.
	24—A	ccounts and audit
30	(1)	The Trust must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Trust, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
	(2)	The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
35		(a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the <i>Public Finance and Audit Act 1987</i> ; and
		(b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
	(3)	The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Trust and must audit the annual statements of account.

5

25—Annual report

- (1) The Trust must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

10 **12—Substitution of heading to Part 4**

Heading to Part 4—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 3—Transfer of Trust property

13—Redesignation of section 29—Transfer of Trust property

Section 29-redesignate section 29 as section 26

15 **14—Substitution of Part 5**

Part 5—delete Part 5 and substitute:

Part 4—Authorised officers

27—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.

20

5

30

35

25

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

(5)	An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—	
5	(a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and	
	(b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.	
(6) 10	If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.	
	Maximum penalty: \$250.	
28—P	owers of authorised officers	
(1)	If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while at the Centre or other premises of the Trust, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:	
	(a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;	
20	 (b) if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence; 	
25	 (c) require the person to leave the Centre or those premises immediately and not to return for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or not to enter the Centre or those premises; 	
30	 (d) if the person refuses or fails to comply with a requirement under paragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of removing or excluding the person from the Centre or those premises; 	
	(e) cause the person to be detained and handed over into the custody of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.	
(2)	An authorised officer may also—	
35	 (a) require a person to surrender any object, substance or thing that the authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is being, or is about to be, used at the Centre or other premises of the Trust in contravention of this Act; and 	
40	(b) give such directions to persons at the Centre or other premises of the Trust that the authorised officer considers necessary for—	

5			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at the Centre or those premises; or
			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Trust; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
10			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from the Centre or other premises of the Trust a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 33; and
15		(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
	(3)		anied by	fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be v such assistants as are reasonably required in the
20	(4)	premise		s of this section, a reference to the <i>Centre or other Trust</i> includes a reference to a part of the Centre or
	29—Н	linderin	ng etc a	uthorised officers
	(1)	A perso	on who—	-
25		(a)	without officer;	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised or
		(b)		answer a question put by an authorised officer to the his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
		(c)	-	es a document that he or she knows, or ought to is false or misleading in a material particular; or
30		(d)		thout reasonable excuse to comply with a ment or direction of an authorised officer under this
35		(e)		usive, threatening or insulting language to an sed officer or a person assisting an authorised officer;
		(f)	•	represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an sed officer,
		is guilty	y of an o	ffence.
		Maxim	um pena	lty: \$2 500.
40	(2)	docume	ent as rec	obliged to answer a question or to produce a juired under this Act if to do so might tend to person or make the person liable to a penalty.

Part 5—Official insignia

30—Interpretation

(1) In this Part—

official insignia means-

- (a) an official title (declared under section 31); or
- (b) a logo (declared under section 31); or
- (c) a combination of the above.
- (2) For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—
 - (a) the goods; or
 - (b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
 - (c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
 - (d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.

31—Official titles and logos

- (1) The following are declared to be official titles:
 - (a) Adelaide Festival Centre Trust;
 - (b) Adelaide Festival Centre.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—
 - (a) declare some other name under which the Trust may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
 - (b) declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust to be an official title; or
 - (c) declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Trust or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust.
- (3) However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
- (4) An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.

10

5

15

20

25

30

	(5)		inister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.			
	32— U	nlawfu	l use of official insignia			
	(1)	The Tr	ust has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.			
5	(2)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, in the course of or business—			
		(a)	use a name in which the Trust has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or			
10		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or			
		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.			
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.			
15	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.			
		Maximum penalty: \$20 000.				
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—			
		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Trust); and			
20		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and			
		(c)	may be revoked by the Trust for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.			
25	(5)		preme Court may, on the application of the Trust, grant an ion to restrain a breach of this section.			
30	(6)	section	urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this may, on the application of the Trust, order the convicted to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the			
	(7)		tions (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that available to the Trust apart from those subsections.			
	33—S	eizure	etc of goods marked with official insignia			
	(1)	If—				
35		(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and			
		(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Trust,			
		the aut	horised officer may seize those goods.			

	(2)	If good	s have been seized under this section and—
		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section $32(2)$ in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
5		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
		the pers	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
10		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
		(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
	(3)		on for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may ght against the Trust in any court of competent jurisdiction.
15	(4)		art by which a person is convicted of an offence against this y order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to wn.
20	(5)	manner	ods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the d into the Consolidated Account.
	Part	6—M	iscellaneous
	34—L	ability	for council rates
	(1)		to subsection (2), land owned by the Trust is not rateable ne Local Government Act 1999.
25	(2)	other th that per	uch land is occupied under a lease or licence by a person an the Crown or an agency or instrumentality of the Crown, son is liable as occupier of the land to rates levied under the <i>Government Act 1999</i> .
	35—G	lifts etc	
30	(1)	The Tru	ist may accept—
		(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
35		(b)	rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
		(c)	gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.

5	instrui grante	the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any ment by which land or any interest in or right over land is d or assured to or vested in the Trust or on any contract or ment executed by the Trust for the purpose of disposing of any ty.
	36—Ministe	rial delegation
10	this A (inclue	linister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under ct (other than this power of delegation) to any person ling a person for the time being performing particular duties or g or acting in a specified position).
	(2) A dele	gation under this section—
	(a)	must be by instrument in writing; and
	(b)	may be absolute or conditional; and
15	(c)	does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
	(d)	is revocable at will.
		ction or power delegated under this section may, if the nent of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
20	signed this se	al proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under ction, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted of that the delegation was made in accordance with the ilars.
	37—Approv	als by Treasurer
25	(1) An ap	proval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
	(a)	specific or general; and
	(b)	conditional or unconditional.
		proval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the urer at any time.
30	38—Regulat	ions
		overnor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or ary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.
	(2) Witho may—	ut limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations
35	(a)	provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the Trust; and
40	(b)	provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from the Centre or other premises of the Trust or a part of the Centre or those premises; and

	(c)	-	t disorderly or offensive behaviour at the Centre or remises of the Trust; and
5	(d)	smokin Centre	t or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), g or the consumption of unlawful substances at the or other premises of the Trust or a part of the Centre e premises; and
	(e)	prohibi purpose	t or regulate any other conduct or activities for the es of—
10		(i)	maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, at the Centre or other premises of the Trust; and
		(ii)	protecting property under the care or control of the Trust; and
15	(f)		t or regulate the driving, parking or standing of s at the Centre or other premises of the Trust; and
	(g)	other p	be fees for the parking of vehicles at the Centre or remises of the Trust and provide for their payment overy; and
20	(h)	or left s guilty o	e that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked standing in contravention of the regulations are each of an offence and provide or exclude defences in a to any such offence; and
	(i)	-	e for the management (including disposal) by, and in, the Trust of unclaimed property; and
25	(j)	of any a	e for the approval by the Trust or an authorised officer act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited he regulations; and
	(k)	prescrit regulati	be penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any ion.
30 (3)	The reg	gulations	may—
	(a)	be of ge	eneral or limited application; and
	(b)		ifferent provision according to the persons, things or stances to which they are expressed to apply; and
35	(c)	dispens discreti	e that any matter or thing is to be determined, sed with, regulated or prohibited according to the on of the Minister, the Trust or another prescribed or authority.
(4)			for an offence against a regulation dealing with the gor standing of vehicles—
40	(a)	compla specifie	gation in a complaint that a person named in the int was the owner of a specified vehicle on a ed day will be taken to be proved in the absence of o the contrary; and

(b) if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.

5 Part 3—Amendment of Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

15—Amendment of section 3—Interpretation

(1) Section 3(1), after "In this Act" insert:

, unless the contrary intention appears

(2) Section 3(1), definition of *board*—delete the definition and substitute:

authorised officer—see Part 5;

board means the board established as the governing authority of the Corporation under section 7;

(3) Section 3(1), definitions of *logo*, *official insignia*, *official symbol*, *official title* and *promote*—delete the definitions and substitute:

member means member of the board;

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia—see Part 6;

premises of the Corporation means premises owned or occupied by the Corporation;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager.

(4) Section 3(2)—delete subsection (2)

16—Substitution of heading to Part 3

25

10

15

20

Heading to Part 3—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 3—Functions and powers of Corporation

17—Amendment of section 6—Powers

- (1) Section 6(1) and (2)—delete subsections (1) and (2) and substitute:
 - (1) The Corporation has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under this or any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
 - (2) The Corporation may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following (subject to this Act):
 - (a) engage agents, consultants or other contractors;
 - (b) enter into contracts or agreements with artists, performers, entertainers and other persons involved in the arts, or employ such persons;

(c) enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements;

30

	(d)	acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of objects, works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural interest;
	(e)	acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of—
5		(i) licences; or
		(ii) intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
		(iii) any other property (whether real or personal); or
		(iv) any interest in such property;
10	(f)	accept grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any person or body;
	(g)	carry on any advertising and promotional activities;
15	(h)	conduct events and establish, operate, manage or make available venues and other facilities (including facilities for food and liquor) on premises of the Corporation;
	(i)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;
20	(j)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;
25	(k)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;
	(1)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;
30	(m)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;
	(n)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
35	(0)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
40	(p)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in the arts, or the promotion of the arts;

- (q) give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
- (r) enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
- (s) form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
- (t) borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
- (u) act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
- (2) Section 6(4)—delete "and outside" and substitute:

or outside of

15 **18—Substitution of heading to Part 4**

Heading to Part 4-delete the heading and substitute:

Part 4—Management of Corporation

19—Insertion of heading to Part 4 Division 1A

Before section 8 insert:

20

5

10

Division 1A—Membership, proceedings etc

20—Substitution of sections 8 to 11

Sections 8 to 11 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

8—Composition of board

- (1) The board will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—
 - (a) 1 will be selected from a panel of 3 persons nominated by The Corporation of the City of Adelaide; and
 - (b) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members nominated by the Minister to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be the deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

30

35

9—Conditions of membership

		(1)	conditi	ber will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on ons determined by the Governor and specified in the nent of appointment.
5		(2)	eligible	aber will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be e for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
		(3)	The Go	overnor may remove a member from office—
			(a)	for misconduct; or
10			(b)	for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
			(c)	for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
15			(d)	if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the board's affairs or the board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
		(4)	The of	fice of a member becomes vacant if the member—
			(a)	dies; or
20			(b)	completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
			(c)	resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
			(d)	is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
25			(e)	is absent without leave of the presiding member of the board from 3 consecutive meetings of the board; or
			(f)	is removed from office under subsection (3).
		(5)		office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be ted in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
30		(6)	A ment the Go	ber is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by vernor.
	21—A	mendment of	section	12—Proceedings
	(1)	Section 12(2)— substitute:	-delete "1	member appointed to chair meetings of the board" and
		presidi	ng memt	ber
35	(2)	Section 12(6)(b)—delete	e "facsimile transmission or other electronically transmitted"

- and substitute: fax or other
- (3) Section 12—after subsection (6) insert:
 - (6a) The board must meet at least 6 times in each year.

- (4) Section 12—after subsection (8) insert:
 - (9) Subject to the directions of the board and section 15, this section applies to a committee of the board in the same way as to the board.

22—Substitution of section 13

5

10

15

20

Section 13—delete the section and substitute:

13—Validity of acts

An act or proceeding of the board or a committee of the board is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

14—Ministerial control

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the board is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.
- (2) No Ministerial direction can be given—
 - (a) as to the artistic nature or content of—
 - (i) objects, works or collections held or promoted by the Corporation; or
 - (ii) performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation; or
 - (b) as to the manner in which the board is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
 - (c) as to any advice or recommendation that the board makes or is required to make to the Minister.

23—Repeal of Part 4 Division 2

Part 4 Division 2—delete Division 2

25 **24—Amendment and redesignation of section 17—Committees**

(1) Section 17(2)—after "membership" insert:

and conditions of membership

(2) Section 17—redesignate the section (as amended by this section) as section 15

25—Substitution of section 18

30

35

Section 18—delete the section and substitute:

16—Delegation

- (1) The board may delegate a function or power of the board under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and

		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and
		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d) is revocable at will.
5	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
	(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.
10		Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.
15	(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the board containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.
	26—Insertion of Par	t 4 Divisions 3A and 3B
20	After section 16	(as substituted by section 25 of this Act) insert:
		on 3A—Conflict of interest under Public Sector Honesty and Accountability) Act
		onflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and ccountability) Act
25		A member of the board will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the <i>Public Sector (Honesty</i> <i>and Accountability) Act 1995</i> by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a
30		substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.
	Divisi	on 3B—Common seal and execution of documents
	18—C	ommon seal and execution of documents
35	(1)	The common seal of the Corporation must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the board and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the board.

5	(2)	The board may, by instrument under the common seal of the Corporation, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Corporation subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
	(3)	Without limiting subsection (2), the board may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Corporation.
	(4)	A document is duly executed by the Corporation if—
10		(a) the common seal of the Corporation is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
		 (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Corporation by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
15	(5)	If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Corporation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Corporation was duly affixed to the document.
	27—Insertion of sect	tion 18A
	Before section 1	9 insert:
20	18A—	-Annual budget
	(1)	The board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
25	(2)	The budget must set out estimates of the Corporation's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
	(3)	The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
	(4)	The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
30	(5)	Subject to subsection (6), the board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
35	(6)	The board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Corporation by way of a testamentary or other gift.

28—Substitution of Part 5

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Part 5—delete the Part and substitute:

Part 5—Authorised officers

21—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
 - (b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
- (6) If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.

Maximum penalty: \$250.

22—Powers of authorised officers

- (1) If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on premises of the Corporation, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:
 - (a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;

		(b)	the nam person	uthorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that ne or place of residence stated is false—require the to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual f residence;
5		(c)	not to r	the person to leave those premises immediately and eturn for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or enter those premises;
10		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement baragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ary for the purpose of removing or excluding the from those premises;
		(e)		ne person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
	(2)	An auth	norised o	fficer may also—
15		(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used on premises of the Corporation ravention of this Act; and
20		(b)	-	ch directions to persons on premises of the ation that the authorised officer considers necessary
25			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, on those premises; or
			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Corporation; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
30			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from premises of the Corporation a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 27; and
35		(d)	exercise	e any other prescribed power.
	(3)		anied by	fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be y such assistants as are reasonably required in the
40	(4)			s of this section, a reference to <i>premises of the</i> cludes a reference to a part of those premises.

23—Hindering etc authorised officers

			8
	(1)	A perso	on who—
		(a)	without reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised officer; or
5		(b)	fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
		(c)	produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
10		(d)	fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
		(e)	uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
15		(f)	falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,
		is guilt	y of an offence.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.
20	(2)	docume	on is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a ent as required under this Act if to do so might tend to nate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.
	Part	6—Of	fficial insignia
	24—Iı	nterpre	tation
	(1)	In this 1	Part—
25		official	<i>insignia</i> means—
		(a)	an official title (declared under section 25); or
		(b)	a logo (declared under section 25); or
		(c)	a combination of the above.
30	(2)	official	purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or orated in or with—

- the goods; or (a)
- any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or (b) partly enclosed; or
- anything placed in or attached to any such covering or (c) container; or
- (d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.

25—Official titles and logos

- (1) Adelaide Festival Corporation is declared to be an official title.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—

5		(a)	declare some other name under which the Corporation may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Corporation to be an official title; or
10		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Corporation or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Corporation.
15	(3)	subsect otherw with th	er, the Minister must not make a declaration under tion (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or ise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting e consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of istration or protection.
	(4)		cial title declared under this section is not required to be red or otherwise protected under any other Act.
20	(5)		inister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.
	26— U	nlawfu	l use of official insignia
	(1)	The Co	prporation has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
25	(2)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Corporation, in the of a trade or business—
		(a)	use a name in which the Corporation has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or
30		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(3)		on must not, without the consent of the Corporation, assume a or description that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
35		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—
		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Corporation); and
40		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and

	(c)	may be revoked by the Corporation for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
5		preme Court may, on the application of the Corporation, grant nction to restrain a breach of this section.
((section convict	urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this may, on the application of the Corporation, order the ted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the o the Corporation.
10 (*		tions (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that available to the Corporation apart from those subsections.
27–	-Seizure	etc of goods marked with official insignia
(1	l) If—	
15	(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
	(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Corporation,
	the aut	horised officer may seize those goods.
20 (2	2) If good	s have been seized under this section and—
	(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 26(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
25	(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
	the per	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
	(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
30	(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
(1		on for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may aght against the Corporation in any court of competent ction.
35 (4		urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this by order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to own.
40	manner	oods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the id into the Consolidated Account.

Part 7—Miscellaneous

28—Gifts etc

(1)	The Corporation may accept—
-----	-----------------------------

	(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
	(b)	rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
	(c)	gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
(2)	instrum granted or instr	e the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any nent by which land or any interest in or right over land is or assured to or vested in the Corporation or on any contract ument executed by the Corporation for the purpose of ng of any property.
29—N	linister	ial delegation
(1)	The Mi	nister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under

- (1) The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

30—Approvals by Treasurer

35

30

5

10

15

20

- (1) An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
 - (a) specific or general; and
 - (b) conditional or unconditional.
- (2) An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.

31—Regulations

	(1)		overnor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, ary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.	or
5	(2)	Withou may—	ut limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations	
		(a)	provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control the Corporation; and	of
10		(b)	provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from premises of the Corporation or a part of those premises; and	
		(c)	prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of t Corporation; and	the
15		(d)	prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances on premises of the Corporation or a part of those premises; ar	nd
		(e)	prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—	
20			 maintaining good order, and preventing interferent with events or activities conducted, on premises of the Corporation; and 	
			(ii) protecting property under the care or control of th Corporation; and	ie
25		(f)	prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles on premises of the Corporation; and	
		(g)	prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the Corporation and provide for their payment and recovery; and	ne
30		(h)	provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, park or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and	
		(i)	provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Corporation of unclaimed property; and	
35		(j)	provide for the approval by the board or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and	
		(k)	prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.	/
40	(3)	The reg	gulations may—	
		(a)	be of general or limited application; and	

- (b) make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
- (c) provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the board or another prescribed person or authority.
- (4) In proceedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the driving, parking or standing of vehicles—
 - (a) an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
 - (b) if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.

Part 4—Amendment of Art Gallery Act 1939

29—Insertion of heading to Part 1

Before section 1 insert:

20

25

30

5

10

15

Part 1—Preliminary

30—Amendment of section **3**—Interpretation

(1) Section 3, after the definition of *art gallery* insert:

- (2) Section 3, definition of *board*—after "Board" insert:
 - established under this Act
- (3) Section 3, definition of *to damage*—delete the definition
- (4) Section 3—after the definition of *member* insert:

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia—see Part 4;

premises of the board means premises owned or occupied by the board;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager.

(5) Section 3, note—delete the note

35 **31—Insertion of headings to Part 2 and Part 2 Division 1**

Before section 4 insert:

Part 2—Art Gallery Board

Division 1—Establishment of Art Gallery Board

32—Amendment of section 4—Establishment of Art Gallery Board

Section 4(2)—delete subsection (2) and substitute:

(2) The board—

- (a) is a body corporate; and
- (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
- (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
- (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
- (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

33—Substitution of sections 5 to 13

Sections 5 to 13 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

5—Composition of board

- (1) The board will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

6—Conditions of membership

- (1) A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
- (2) A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
- (3) The Governor may remove a member from office—
 - (a) for misconduct; or
 - (b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
 - (c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or

15

20

25

30

35

5

	 (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the board's affairs or the board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
5 (4)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
	(a) dies; or
	(b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
	(c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
10	(d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
	(e) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the board from 3 consecutive meetings of the board; or
	(f) is removed from office under subsection (3).
(5)	On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
(6)	A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.
7—Pr	oceedings
20 (1)	A quorum of the board consists of half of the total number of its members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.
(2)	In the absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the board, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the board.
25 (4)	Each member present at a meeting of the board has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
(5)	A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the board at which the participating members are present if—
	(a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the board for the purpose; and
35	 (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.
(6)	A proposed resolution of the board becomes a valid decision of the board despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the board if—
40	(a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the board; and

	(b)	a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution.
(7)	The boa	ard must meet at least 6 times in each year.
(8)	The boa	ard must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
(9)	Subject	to this Act, the board may determine its own procedures.
(10)	•	to the directions of the board and section 10, this section to a committee of the board in the same way as to the board.
8—Va	lidity o	facts
	invalid	or proceeding of the board or a committee of the board is not by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in ointment of a member.
9—Mi	nisteria	al control
(1)	0	to subsection (2), the board is subject to the general control ection of the Minister.
(2)	No Mir	nisterial direction can be given—
	(a)	as to the artistic nature or content of—
		(i) objects, works or collections held or promoted by the board; or
		(ii) performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the board; or
	(b)	as to the manner in which the board is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
	(c)	as to any advice or recommendation that the board makes or is required to make to the Minister.
Divisi	on 3—	Committees and delegation
10—C	ommitt	iees
(1)		ard may establish such committees (including advisory tees or subcommittees) as the board thinks fit.
(2)	be deter	embership and conditions of membership of a committee will rmined by the board and may, but need not, consist of, or , members of the board.
(3)		ocedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the s of a committee will be—
	(a)	as determined by the board; and

11—Delegation

5	(1)	The board may delegate a function or power of the board under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
	(2)	A delegation under this section—
		(a) must be by instrument in writing; and
		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and
10		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d) is revocable at will.
	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
15	(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.
		Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
20	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.
25	(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the board containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.
		on 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector Honesty and Accountability) Act
		Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act
30		A member of the board will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the <i>Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995</i> by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a
35		substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

13—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the board must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the board and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the board.
- (2) The board may, by instrument under the common seal of the board, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the board subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the board may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the board.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the board if—
 - (a) the common seal of the board is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the board by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the board, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the board was duly affixed to the document.

34—Insertion of heading to Part 2 Division 6

Before section 16 insert:

25

30

35

5

10

15

20

Division 6—Functions and powers of board

35—Amendment of section 16—Functions

(1) Section 16(1)—delete "are as follows:" and substitute:

are—

(2) Section 16(1)(a)—delete "of all lands and premises placed under the care and control" and substitute:

other premises

- (3) Section 16(1)(f)—delete paragraph (f) and substitute:
 - (f) to carry out any other functions assigned to the board under this or any other Act or by the Minister.
- (4) Section 16(2) and (3)—delete subsections (2) and (3)

36—Substitution of sections 16A and 17

Sections 16A and 17—delete the sections and substitute:

17 ъ

	17—P	owers		
5	(1)			n addition to any other powers conferred on it under Act, all the powers of a natural person.
	(2)		ard may, t to this A	for example, do any 1 or more of the following Act):
		(a)	engage	agents, consultants or other contractors;
10		(b)		to contracts or agreements with artists and other involved in the arts, or employ such persons;
		(c)	enter in	to other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
		(d)	-	, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of , works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural ;
15		(e)	acquire	, hold, deal with or dispose of—
			(i)	licences; or
			(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
			(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or
20			(iv)	any interest in such property;
		(f)	person	wards for information leading to the conviction of a for an offence against any property under the care or of the board;
25		(g)		grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;
		(h)	carry of	n advertising and promotional activities;
30		(i)	availab	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for d liquor) at the art gallery or other premises of the
		(j)	•	e and control admission to any venue for any events ities conducted or promoted by the board;
35		(k)		and collect fees for admission to exhibitions, events ities conducted on special occasions or for special es;
		(1)	-	or fee or other consideration advertising or ship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in

by the board;

connection with events or activities conducted or promoted

		(m)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the board;
5		(n)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the board;
		(0)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the board;
10		(p)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
		(q)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
15		(r)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in the arts, or the promotion of the arts;
20		(s)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(t)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
		(u)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
25		(v)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
		(w)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
30	(3)		er, the board must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, e a power referred to in subsection $(2)(u)$ or (v) .
	(4)	The boa	ard may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.
	37—Substitution of	sections	s 18 to 29
	Sections 18 to 2	9 (inclus	ive)—delete the sections and substitute:
	Divis	ion 7—	Staff
35	18—S	taff	
	(1)		ard's staff consists of Public Service employees assigned to ne board.
	(2)	The boy	ard may under an arrangement established by the Minister

(2) The board may, under an arrangement established by the Minister administering an administrative unit of the Public Service, make use of the services or staff of that administrative unit.

Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports

19—Annual budget

- (1) The board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the board's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the board by way of a testamentary or other gift.

20—Accounts and audit

- (1) The board must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the board, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the board and must audit the annual statements of account.

21—Annual report

- (1) The board must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the board for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the board for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

53

20

5

10

15

25

30

Part 3—Authorised officers

22—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
 - (b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
- (6) If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.

Maximum penalty: \$250.

23—Powers of authorised officers

- (1) If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while at the art gallery or other premises of the board, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:
 - (a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;
 - (b) if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence;

10

5

15

20

25

30

35

		(c)	immed	the person to leave the art gallery or those premises iately and not to return for a stated period (not ing 24 hours) or not to enter the art gallery or those es;
5		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement baragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ary for the purpose of removing or excluding the from the art gallery or those premises;
10		(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the y of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
	(2)	An auth	horised o	fficer may also—
15		(a)	that the being,	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing a authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used at the art gallery or other es of the board in contravention of this Act; and
		(b)	premise	ch directions to persons at the art gallery or other es of the board that the authorised officer considers ary for—
20			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at the art gallery or those premises; or
25			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the board; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
30			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from the art gallery or other premises of the board a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 28; and
		(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
35	(3)	accomp		fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be y such assistants as are reasonably required in the
	(4)	other p	remises	s of this section, a reference to the <i>art gallery or</i> <i>of the board</i> includes a reference to a part of the art premises.
40	24—H	inderir	ıg etc a	uthorised officers
	(1)	A perso	on who-	_
		(a)	withou	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised

officer; or

	(b)	fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
	(c)	produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
5	(d)	fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
10	(e)	uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
	(f)	falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,
	is guilt	y of an offence.
	Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.
15 (2	docume	on is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a ent as required under this Act if to do so might tend to nate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.
Pa	rt 4—O	fficial insignia
25–	-Interpre	tation
20 (1) In this	Part—
	official	insignia means—
	(a)	an official title (declared under section 26); or
	(b)	a logo (declared under section 26); or
	(c)	a combination of the above.
25 (2	official	purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or orated in or with—
	(a)	the goods; or
30	(b)	any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
	(c)	anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
	(d)	anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.
35 26 -	-Official	titles and logos
(1) Art Ga	llery of South Australia is declared to be an official title.

	(2)	The M	nister may, by notice in the Gazette—
		(a)	declare some other name under which the board may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
5		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the board to be an official title; or
10		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the board or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the board.
15	(3)	subsect otherw with th	er, the Minister must not make a declaration under ion (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or ise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting e consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of istration or protection.
	(4)		cial title declared under this section is not required to be red or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)		nister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.
20	27—U	J nlawfu	l use of official insignia
	(1)	The bo	ard has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
	(2)	-	on must not, without the consent of the board, in the course of or business—
25		(a)	use a name in which the board has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or
		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
30		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the board, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—
35		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the board); and
		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
40		(c)	may be revoked by the board for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.

(5)	The Supreme Court may, on the application of the board, grant an
	injunction to restrain a breach of this section.

- The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this (6) section may, on the application of the board, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the board.
- (7) Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that may be available to the board apart from those subsections.

Soizuro ata af good 1 1 •41 ee • 1 • • . 20

28—Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia				
10	(1)	If—		
		(a) goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and		
		(b) an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the board,	ne	
15		the authorised officer may seize those goods.		
	(2)	If goods have been seized under this section and—		
		 (a) proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 27(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or 		
20		(b) after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,		
		the person from whom they were seized is entitled to recover-		
25		(c) the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and		
		(d) compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.)	
	(3)	An action for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) ma be brought against the board in any court of competent jurisdiction.	-	
30	(4)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to the Crown.	D	
35	(5)	Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.		

Part 5—Miscellaneous

29—Gifts etc

(1) The board may accept—	-
---------------------------	---

5		(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
		(b)	rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
10		(c)	gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
	(2)	A gift o	or bequest made to or for the benefit or purposes of—
		(a)	the art gallery; or
		(b)	the board; or
		(c)	a former governing body of the art gallery,
15			taken to be a gift or bequest to the board and must be applied board towards the purposes for which the gift or bequest was
20	(3)	instrum granted	e the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any nent by which land or any interest in or right over land is l or assured to or vested in the board or on any contract or nent executed by the board for the purpose of disposing of any y.
	30—M	linister	ial delegation
25	(1)	this Ac (includ	inister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under t (other than this power of delegation) to any person ing a person for the time being performing particular duties or g or acting in a specified position).
	(2)	A deleg	gation under this section—
		(a)	must be by instrument in writing; and
30		(b)	may be absolute or conditional; and
		(c)	does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d)	is revocable at will.
35	(3)		tion or power delegated under this section may, if the nent of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
	(4)	signed this sec	l proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under ction, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted of that the delegation was made in accordance with the
40		particu	÷

31—Approvals by Treasurer

- (1) An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
 - (a) specific or general; and
 - (b) conditional or unconditional.
- (2) An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.

32—Regulations

- (1) The Governor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or necessary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may—
 - (a) provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the board; and
 - (b) provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from the art gallery or other premises of the board or a part of the art gallery or those premises; and
 - (c) prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour at the art gallery or other premises of the board; and
 - (d) prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances at the art gallery or other premises of the board or a part of the art gallery or those premises; and
 - (e) prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—
 - (i) maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, at the art gallery or other premises of the board; and
 - (ii) protecting property under the care or control of the board; and
 - (f) prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles on premises of the board; and
 - (g) prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the board and provide for their payment and recovery; and
 - (h) provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
 - (i) provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the board of unclaimed property; and

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

		(j)	provide for the approval by the board or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
5		(k)	prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.
	(3)	The reg	gulations may—
		(a)	be of general or limited application; and
		(b)	make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
10		(c)	provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the board or another prescribed person or authority.
15	(4)	-	eedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the , parking or standing of vehicles—
		(a)	an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
20		(b)	if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.
	Part 5—Amendi	nent o	of Carrick Hill Trust Act 1985

25 **38—Substitution of sections 3 and 4**

Sections 3 and 4—delete the sections and substitute:

3—Interpretation

In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears-

authorised officer—see Part 3;

Carrick Hill means the property known by that name vested in the Trust;

member means member of the Trust;

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia—see Part 4;

premises of the Trust means premises owned or occupied by the Trust;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;

30

35

Trust means the Carrick Hill Trust established under this Act.

39—Substitution of Parts 2 and 3

Parts 2 and 3—delete the Parts and substitute:

Part 2—Carrick Hill Trust

Division 1—Establishment of Trust

4—Establishment of Trust

- (1) The Carrick Hill Trust is established.
- (2) The Trust—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds its property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

5—Composition of Trust

- (1) The Trust will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—
 - (a) 1 will be nominated by the council of the City of Mitcham from the members, officers or employees of the council; and
 - (b) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

6—Conditions of membership

- (1) A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
- (2) A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).

10

15

5

20

25

30

	(3)	The Governor may remove a member from office—
		(a) for misconduct; or
		(b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
5		(c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
10		 (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Trust's affairs or the Trust has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
	(4)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
		(a) dies; or
		(b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
		(c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
15		(d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
		(e) ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Trust; or
20		(f) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Trust from 3 consecutive meetings of the Trust; or
		(g) is removed from office under subsection (3).
	(5)	On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
25	(6)	A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.
	7—Pro	oceedings
	(1)	A quorum of the Trust consists of half of the total number of the members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.
30	(2)	In the absence of the presiding member from a meeting of the Trust, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
	(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Trust.
35	(4)	Each member present at a meeting of the Trust has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.

	(5)	membe	rs will, f	telephone or other electronic means between or the purposes of this section, be taken to be a Frust at which the participating members are present
5		(a)		of the conference is given to all members in the determined by the Trust for the purpose; and
		(b)	-	rticipating member is capable of communicating ery other participating member during the nce.
10	(6)			e fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Trust
		(a)		of the proposed resolution is given to all members in ance with procedures determined by the Trust; and
15		(b)	propose	ity of the members expresses concurrence in the ed resolution by letter, fax or other written nication setting out the terms of the resolution.
	(7)	The Tru	ust must	meet at least 6 times in each year.
	(8)	The Tru	ust must	have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
20	(9)	Subject	to this A	Act, the Trust may determine its own procedures.
	(10)	•		rections of the Trust and section 10, this section mittee of the Trust in the same way as to the Trust.
	8—Va	lidity o	f acts	
25		invalid	by reaso	eding of the Trust or a committee of the Trust is not n only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in of a member.
	9—Mi	nisteria	al contr	ol
	(1)	-		ection (2), the Trust is subject to the general control the Minister.
30	(2)	No Mir	nisterial c	lirection can be given—
		(a)	as to th	e artistic nature or content of—
			(i)	objects, works or collections held or promoted by the Trust; or
35			(ii)	performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust; or
		(b)		e manner in which the Trust is to deal with a entary or other gift; or
		(c)		y advice or recommendation that the Trust makes or red to make to the Minister.

Division 3—Committees and delegation

10—Committees

(1)	The Trust may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Trust thinks fit.		
(2)	The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Trust and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Trust.		
(3)	The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—		
	(a) as determined by the Trust; and		
	(b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.		
11—D	elegation		
(1)	The Trust may delegate a function or power of the Trust under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).		
(2)	A delegation under this section—		
	(a) must be by instrument in writing; and		
	(b) may be absolute or conditional; and		
	(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and		
	(d) is revocable at will.		
(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.		
(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter is which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.		
	Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.		
(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.		
(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Trust containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.		

Division 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

12—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

A member of the Trust will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the *Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995* by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

13—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Trust must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Trust and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Trust.
- (2) The Trust may, by instrument under the common seal of the Trust, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Trust subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Trust may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Trust.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Trust if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Trust is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Trust by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Trust, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Trust was duly affixed to the document.

Division 6—Functions and powers of Trust

14—Functions

The functions of the Trust are-

- (a) to administer, develop and maintain Carrick Hill for any 1 or more of the following purposes:
 - (i) as a gallery for the display of works of art;
 - (ii) as a museum;

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

			(iii) as a botanical garden; and
		(b)	to promote and encourage the interest of the public in Carrick Hill, its collections and the services and amenities provided by the Trust; and
5		(c)	to perform any other functions assigned to the Trust by this Act or the Minister.
	15—P	owers	
	(1)		rust has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
10	(2)		rust may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following ct to this Act):
		(a)	engage agents, consultants or other contractors;
15		(b)	enter into contracts or agreements with artists, performers, entertainers and other persons involved in the arts, or employ such persons;
		(c)	enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
		(d)	acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of objects, works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural interest;
20		(e)	acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of—
			(i) licences; or
			(ii) intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
			(iii) any other property (whether real or personal); or
25			(iv) any interest in such property;
		(f)	accept grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any person or body;
		(g)	carry on advertising and promotional activities;
30		(h)	conduct events and establish, operate, manage or make available venues and other facilities (including facilities for food and liquor) at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust;
35		(i)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;
		(j)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;

		(k)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
5		(1)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
		(m)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
10		(n)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
		(0)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
15		(p)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in the arts, or the promotion of the arts;
20		(q)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(r)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
25		(s)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
		(t)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
		(u)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
30	(3)	Howeve	er, the Trust must not—
		(a)	sell or otherwise dispose of any of its real property without the approval of both Houses of Parliament; or
		(b)	exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(s) or (t) without the approval of the Treasurer.
35	(4)	The Tru	st may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.
D	Divisio	on 7—3	Staff
1	6—St	aff	

(1) The Trust's staff consists of Public Service employees assigned to assist the Trust.

(2)	The Trust may, under an arrangement established by the Minister
	administering an administrative unit of the Public Service, make use
	of the services or staff of that administrative unit.

Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports

17—Annual budget

- (1) The Trust must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Trust's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Trust must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Trust is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Trust by way of a testamentary or other gift.

18—Accounts and audit

- (1) The Trust must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Trust, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Trust and must audit the annual statements of account.

19—Annual report

- (1) The Trust must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

5

10

15

20

25

30

Part 3—Authorised officers

20—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
 - (b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
- (6) If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.

Maximum penalty: \$250.

21—Powers of authorised officers

- (1) If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:
 - (a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;
 - (b) if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence;

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

		(c)	immed	the person to leave Carrick Hill or those premises iately and not to return for a stated period (not ing 24 hours) or not to enter Carrick Hill or those es;
5		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement baragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ary for the purpose of removing or excluding the from Carrick Hill or those premises;
10		(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the y of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
	(2)	An auth	norised o	fficer may also—
15		(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing a authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used at Carrick Hill or other es of the Trust in contravention of this Act; and
		(b)	premise	ch directions to persons at Carrick Hill or other es of the Trust that the authorised officer considers ary for—
20			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at Carrick Hill or those premises; or
25			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Trust; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
30			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 26; and
		(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
35	(3)	accomp		fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be v such assistants as are reasonably required in the
	(4)	premis	. .	s of this section, a reference to <i>Carrick Hill or other Trust</i> includes a reference to a part of Carrick Hill or
40	22—Н	inderiı	ng etc a	uthorised officers
	(1)	A perso	on who—	-
		(a)	withou	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised

officer; or

	(b)	fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
	(c)	produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
	(d)	fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
	(e)	uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
	(f)	falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,
	is guilt	y of an offence.
	Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.
(2)	A person is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a document as required under this Act if to do so might tend to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.	
Part	4—Of	fficial insignia
23—I	nterpre	tation
(1)	In this 1	Part—
	official	<i>insignia</i> means—
	(a)	an official title (declared under section 24); or
	(b)	a logo (declared under section 24); or
	(c)	a combination of the above.
(2)	official	purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or orated in or with—
	(a)	the goods; or
	(b)	any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
	(c)	anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
		anything that is attached to the goods or around which the
	(d)	goods are wrapped or wound.
24—0		
24—C (1)	Official (goods are wrapped or wound.
	Official (goods are wrapped or wound. titles and logos
)fficial 1 The fol	goods are wrapped or wound. titles and logos lowing are declared to be official titles:

	(2)	The Mi	nister may, by notice in the Gazette—
		(a)	declare some other name under which the Trust may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
5		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust to be an official title; or
10		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Trust or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust.
15	(3)	subsect otherwi with th	er, the Minister must not make a declaration under ion (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or ise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting e consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of istration or protection.
	(4)		cial title declared under this section is not required to be red or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)		nister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.
20	25—U	J nlawfu	l use of official insignia
	(1)	The Tr	ust has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
	(2)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, in the course of or business—
25		(a)	use a name in which the Trust has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or
		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
30		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—
35		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Trust); and
		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
40		(c)	may be revoked by the Trust for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.

(5)	The Supreme Court may, on the application of the Trust, grant an
	injunction to restrain a breach of this section.

- The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this (6) section may, on the application of the Trust, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the Trust.
- Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that (7) may be available to the Trust apart from those subsections.

Saizura atc of goods marked with official insignia 26

	20-5	eizure	etc of goods marked with official insignia
10	(1)	If—	
		(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
		(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Trust,
15		the auth	norised officer may seize those goods.
	(2)	If good	s have been seized under this section and—
		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section $25(2)$ in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
20		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
		the per	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
25		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
		(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
	(3)		on for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may ught against the Trust in any court of competent jurisdiction.
30	(4)		urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this y order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to own.
35	(5)	manner	oods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the id into the Consolidated Account.
	Part	5—M	iscellaneous
	27— G	overno	or may place Crown land under control of Trust

The Governor may, if of the opinion that it is expedient to do so, (1)place any Crown land under the care, control and management of the Trust.

40

(2)	Land placed under the care, control and management of the Trust under this section will, for the purposes of this Act, be taken to be part of Carrick Hill and must be administered by the Trust in accordance with this Act.	
5 28 —0	lifts etc	
(1)	The Trust may accept—	
	 (a) grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and 	
10	(b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and	
	(c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.	
15 (2)	Despite the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Trust or on any contract or instrument executed by the Trust for the purpose of disposing of any property.	
29—N	Ainisterial delegation	
20 (1)	The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).	
(2)	A delegation under this section—	
25	(a) must be by instrument in writing; and	
	(b) may be absolute or conditional; and	
	(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and	
	(d) is revocable at will.	
30 (3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.	
(4)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.	
30 —A	Approvals by Treasurer	
(1)	An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—	
	(a) specific or general; and	
40	(b) conditional or unconditional.	

(2)	An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the
	Treasurer at any time.

31—Regulations

(1)	The Governor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or
	necessary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.

- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may—
 - (a) provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the Trust; and
 - (b) provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust or a part of Carrick Hill or those premises; and
 - (c) prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust; and
 - (d) prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust or a part of Carrick Hill or those premises; and
 - (e) prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—
 - (i) maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust; and
 - (ii) protecting property under the care or control of the Trust; and
 - (f) prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust; and
 - (g) prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles at Carrick Hill or other premises of the Trust and provide for their payment and recovery; and
 - (h) provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
 - (i) provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Trust of unclaimed property; and
 - (j) provide for the approval by the Trust or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
 - (k) prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

	(3)	The regula	ations may—
		(a) be	e of general or limited application; and
		. ,	hake different provision according to the persons, things or ircumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
5		di di	rovide that any matter or thing is to be determined, ispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the iscretion of the Minister, the Trust or another prescribed erson or authority.
10	(4)	-	lings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the arking or standing of vehicles—
		co si	n allegation in a complaint that a person named in the omplaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a pecified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of roof to the contrary; and
15		re th	Tit is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a egulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to be contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of be vehicle.

Part 6—Amendment of *History Trust of South Australia* Act 1981

20

25

30

35

40

40—Substitution of section 4

Section 4—delete the section and substitute:

2—Interpretation

(1)	In this Act.	unless the	contrary intention	appears-
(-)			•••••••••••••••••••••••••	appen s

authorised officer—see Part 3;

employing authority means the person designated by proclamation as being the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;

member means member of the Trust;

museum means premises in which objects illustrative of, or relevant to, the history of the State are cared for and exhibited (whether or not the premises are devoted exclusively to the care or exhibition of such objects);

object includes a document, picture, specimen or artefact (but does not include an item as defined in the *Heritage Places Act 1993* or the *Aboriginal Heritage Act 1988*);

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia-see Part 4;

premises of the Trust means premises owned or occupied by the Trust;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;

Trust means the History Trust of South Australia established under this Act.

- (2) A proclamation made for the purposes of the definition of *employing authority*
 - (a) may apply by reference to a specified person, or by reference to the person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position; and
 - (b) may, from time to time as the Governor thinks fit, be varied or substituted by a new proclamation.

41—Amendment and redesignation of section 6—Operation of certain other Acts preserved

- (1) Section 6(b) and (c)—delete paragraphs (b) and (c) and substitute:
 - (b) the *Heritage Places Act 1993*; or
 - (c) the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1988.
- (2) Section 6—redesignate section 6 (as amended by this section) as section 3

20 42—Substitution of heading to Part 2

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—History Trust of South Australia

43—Substitution of Part 2 Divisions 1 to 3

Part 2 Divisions 1 to 3 (inclusive)—delete Divisions 1 to 3 and substitute:

25

Division 1—Establishment of Trust

4-Establishment of Trust

- (1) The History Trust of South Australia is established.
- (2) The Trust—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds its property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

30

10

15

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

5—Composition of Trust

- (1) The Trust will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

6—Conditions of membership

- (1) A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
- (2) A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
- (3) The Governor may remove a member from office—
 - (a) for misconduct; or
 - (b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
 - (c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
 - (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Trust's affairs or the Trust has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
- (4) The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
 - (a) dies; or
 - (b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
 - (c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
 - (d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
 - (e) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Trust from 3 consecutive meetings of the Trust; or
 - (f) is removed from office under subsection (3).
- (5) On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
- (6) A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.

10

5

15

20

25

30

35

7—Proceedings

(1)	A quorum of the Trust consists of half of the total number of its
	members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.

- (2) In the absence of the presiding member from a meeting of the Trust, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
- (3) A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Trust.
- (4) Each member present at a meeting of the Trust has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
- (5) A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Trust at which the participating members are present if—
 - (a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Trust for the purpose; and
 - (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.
- (6) A proposed resolution of the Trust becomes a valid decision of the Trust despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Trust if—
 - (a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Trust; and
 - (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution.
- (7) The Trust must meet at least 6 times in each year.
- (8) The Trust must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
- (9) Subject to this Act, the Trust may determine its own procedures.
- (10) Subject to the directions of the Trust and section 10, this section applies to a committee of the Trust in the same way as to the Trust.

8-Validity of acts

An act or proceeding of the Trust or a committee of the Trust is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

9—Ministerial control

(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Trust is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.

40

5

10

15

20

25

30

$\langle \mathbf{O} \rangle$	
(2)	No Ministerial direction can be given—
(-/	

- (a) as to the nature or content of—
 - (i) Trust collections; or
 - (ii) events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust; or
- (b) as to the manner in which the Trust is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
- (c) as to any advice or recommendation that the Trust makes or is required to make to the Minister.

10 Division 2A—Committees and delegation

10—Committees

5

15

20

25

30

35

- (1) The Trust may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Trust thinks fit.
- (2) The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Trust and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Trust.
- (3) The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
 - (a) as determined by the Trust; and
 - (b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.

11—Delegation

- (1) The Trust may delegate a function or power of the Trust under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.

Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.

(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to		
	prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence,		
	unaware of his or her interest in the matter.		

(6) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Trust containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

Division 2B—Common seal and execution of documents

12—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Trust must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Trust and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Trust.
- (2) The Trust may, by instrument under the common seal of the Trust, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Trust subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Trust may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Trust.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Trust if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Trust is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Trust by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Trust, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Trust was duly affixed to the document.

Division 3—Functions and powers of Trust

13—Functions

The functions of the Trust are—

- (a) to carry out, or promote, research relevant to the history of the State; and
- (b) to accumulate and classify data on any subject of significance to the history of the State; and
- (c) to accumulate and care for objects of historical interest; and
- (d) to exhibit objects of historical or cultural interest; and

5

10

15

20

25

30

		(e)	to main the Stat	tain registers of objects of historical significance to e; and
5		(f)	are vest	age and administer museums and other premises that red in, or placed under the care, control and ement of the Trust; and
10		(g)	the Min allocation	edit or otherwise to evaluate museums, and to advise hister on the operation of museums and on the on of funds or other forms of assistance that may be le for the promotion or development of museums;
		(h)		minate, or encourage the dissemination of, ation relevant to the history of the State; and
		(i)		urage the conservation of objects of historical ance to the State; and
15		(j)	ownersl signific	the Minister on the conservation of objects in the hip or possession of the Crown that are of historical ance to the State (and, as appropriate, to assume the ement of such objects); and
20		(k)	•	out any other functions assigned to the Trust under any other Act or by the Minister.
	14—P	owers		
	(1)			n addition to any other powers conferred on it under Act, all the powers of a natural person.
25	(2)		ust may, t to this A	for example, do any 1 or more of the following Act):
		(a)	engage	agents, consultants or other contractors;
		(b)	enter in	to other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
		(c)	1	, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of works or collections of historical or cultural interest;
30		(d)	acquire	, hold, deal with or dispose of—
			(i)	licences; or
			(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
			(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or
35			(iv)	any interest in such property;
		(e)		grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;
		(f)	carry or	n advertising and promotional activities;
40		(g)	availab	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for d liquor) on premises owned of the Trust;

		(h)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;
5		(i)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
10		(j)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs, information and other things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
		(k)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
15		(1)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
		(m)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
20		(n)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
25		(0)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in historical or cultural activities, or the promotion of such activities;
		(p)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage activities of an historical or cultural nature within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
30		(q)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
		(r)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
35		(s)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
		(t)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
	(3)		er, the Trust must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, e a power referred to in subsection $(2)(r)$ or (s) .
40	(4)	The Tru	ast may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

44—Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 4

Heading to Part 2 Division 4—delete the heading and substitute:

Division 4—Staffing arrangements

45—Redesignation of section 16—Staffing arrangements

Section 16—redesignate the section as section 15

46—Substitution of Part 2 Division 5

5

Part 2 Division 5—delete Division 5 and substitute:

Division 5—Financial matters and annual reports

16—Annual budget

10 (1) The Trust must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
(2) The budget must set out estimates of the Trust's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
15 (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
(4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
20 (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Trust must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
(6) The Trust is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Trust by way of a testamentary or other gift.
25 17 -	-Accounts and audit
(1) The Trust must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Trust, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
30 (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
	(a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the <i>Public Finance and Audit Act 1987</i> ; and
	(b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
35 (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Trust and must audit the annual statements of account.

18—Annual report

- (1) The Trust must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

10 47—Substitution of Part 3

Part 3—delete the Part and substitute:

Part 3—Authorised officers

19—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
 - (b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.

15

5

25

20

30

(6)	under ti immedi	his section in the section is the section in the section of the se	ossession of an identity card issued to the person on ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must urn the identity card to the Minister. Ity: \$250.
5 20 — P	owers o	of autho	orised officers
(1)	premise commit	es of the ' t an offer	officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on Trust, has committed, is committing or is about to ace against this or any other Act, the authorised any 1 or more of the following:
10	(a)		the person to state his or her full name and usual f residence;
15	(b)	the nam person	athorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that ne or place of residence stated is false—require the to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual f residence;
	(c)	not to r	the person to leave those premises immediately and eturn for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or nter those premises;
20	(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement aragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ry for the purpose of removing or excluding the from those premises;
	(e)		ne person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
25 (2)	An auth	norised o	fficer may also—
	(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used at premises of the Trust in ention of this Act; and
30	(b)	•	ch directions to persons at premises of the Trust that norised officer considers necessary for—
35		(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at those premises; or
		(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Trust; and
	(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
40		(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from premises of the Trust a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or

- (ii) for the purposes of seizing goods under section 25; and
- (d) exercise any other prescribed power.
- (3) An authorised officer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be accompanied by such assistants as are reasonably required in the circumstances.
- (4) For the purposes of this section, a reference to *premises of the Trust* includes a reference to a part of those premises.

21—Hindering etc authorised officers

10	(1)	A person who—	
		(a) without a	re

5

15

20

25

30

35

- (a) without reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised officer; or
- (b) fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
- (c) produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
- (d) fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
- (e) uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
- (f) falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,
- is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: \$2 500.

(2) A person is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a document as required under this Act if to do so might tend to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.

Part 4—Official insignia

22—Interpretation

(1) In this Part—

official insignia means-

- (a) an official title (declared under section 23); or
- (b) a logo (declared under section 23); or
- (c) a combination of the above.

	(2)	For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—
		(a) the goods; or
5		(b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
		(c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
10		(d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.
	23—0	official titles and logos
	(1)	The following are declared to be official titles:
		(a) History Trust of South Australia;
		(b) History SA.
15	(2)	The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—
		 (a) declare some other name under which the Trust may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
20		(b) declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust to be an official title; or
		 (c) declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Trust or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust.
25	(3)	However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
30	(4)	An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)	The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice under this section.
	24—U	nlawful use of official insignia
35	(1)	The Trust has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
	(2)	A person must not, without the consent of the Trust, in the course of a trade or business—
40		 (a) use a name in which the Trust has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b) sell goods marked with official insignia; or

(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of
	goods or services.

Maximum penalty: \$20 000.

5	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—
		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Trust); and
10		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
		(c)	may be revoked by the Trust for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
15	(5)		preme Court may, on the application of the Trust, grant an ion to restrain a breach of this section.
20	(6)	section	urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this may, on the application of the Trust, order the convicted to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the
	(7)		tions (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that available to the Trust apart from those subsections.
	25—Se	eizure o	etc of goods marked with official insignia
	(1)	If—	
25		(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
		(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Trust,
		the auth	horised officer may seize those goods.
30	(2)	If good	s have been seized under this section and—
		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 24(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
35		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
		the per	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
40		(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.

(3)	An action for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may
	be brought against the Trust in any court of competent jurisdiction.

- (4) The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to the Crown.
- (5) Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.

Part 5—Miscellaneous

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

26—Governor may place Crown land under control of Trust

- (1) If, in the opinion of the Governor—
 - (a) premises on Crown land are of historical significance to the State; or
 - (b) it would be otherwise expedient to place Crown land under the care, control and management of the Trust,

the Governor may place that land under the care, control and management of the Trust.

(2) Land placed under the care, control and management of the Trust under this section must be administered by the Trust in accordance with this Act.

27—Gifts etc

- (1) The Trust may accept—
 - (a) grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
 - (b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
 - (c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Despite the *Stamp Duties Act 1923*, no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Trust or on any contract or instrument executed by the Trust for the purpose of disposing of any property.

28—Ministerial delegation

(1) The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).

	(2)	A delegation under this section—
		(a) must be by instrument in writing; and
		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and
5		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d) is revocable at will.
	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
10	(4)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.
	29—A	pprovals by Treasurer
15	(1)	An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
		(a) specific or general; and
		(b) conditional or unconditional.
	(2)	An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.
20	30—R	egulations
	(1)	The Governor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or necessary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.
	(2)	Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may—
25		 (a) provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the Trust; and
30		 (b) require notification by persons to the Trust of the sale, disposal or destruction of objects listed on a register maintained by the Trust; and
		 (c) provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from premises of the Trust or a part of those premises; and
35		(d) prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of the Trust; and
		 (e) prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances on premises of the Trust or a part of those premises; and

			(i)	maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, on premises of the Trust; and
5			(ii)	protecting property under the care or control of the Trust; and
		(g)	-	t or regulate the driving, parking or standing of s on premises of the Trust; and
		(h)		be fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the nd provide for their payment and recovery; and
10		(i)	or left s guilty o	that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked tanding in contravention of the regulations are each of an offence and provide or exclude defences in to any such offence; and
15		(j)	-	for the management (including disposal) by, and in, the Trust of unclaimed property; and
		(k)	of any a	for the approval by the Trust or an authorised officer act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited ne regulations; and
20		(1)	prescrib regulati	be penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any on.
	(3)	The reg	ulations	may—
		(a)	be of ge	eneral or limited application; and
		(b)		ifferent provision according to the persons, things or stances to which they are expressed to apply; and
25		(c)	dispens discreti	that any matter or thing is to be determined, ed with, regulated or prohibited according to the on of the Minister, the Trust or another prescribed or authority.
30	(4)	-	-	or an offence against a regulation dealing with the or standing of vehicles—
		(a)	compla specifie	ation in a complaint that a person named in the int was the owner of a specified vehicle on a ed day will be taken to be proved in the absence of the contrary; and
35		(b)	regulati	proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a on, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to trary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of icle.

Part 7—Amendment of Libraries Act 1982

48—Substitution of section 5

Section 5—delete the section and substitute:

5—Interpretation

ln	this	section,	unless	the	contrary	intention	appears-	
----	------	----------	--------	-----	----------	-----------	----------	--

authorised officer—see Part 3;

Board means the Libraries Board of South Australia continued under this Act;

council has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999;

LGA means the Local Government Association of South Australia;

library materials means books, magazines, newspapers, records, cassettes, films, videotapes and other materials of a kind commonly lent by, or available for reference at, a library;

member means member of the Board;

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia-see Part 3A;

premises of the Board means premises owned or occupied by the Board;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager.

49—Substitution of heading to Part 2

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—Objectives of Act

50—Repeal of heading to Part 2 Division 1

Heading to Part 2 Division 1-delete the heading

51—Amendment of section 7—Objectives of Act

Section 7(2)—after "lending charge" insert:

or the payment of a membership fee

20

15

5

10

25

52—Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 2

Heading to Part 2 Division 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 3—Libraries Board of South Australia

Division 1—Continuation of Libraries Board of South Australia

53—Amendment of section 8—Continuation of Libraries Board of South Australia

(1) Section 8(1)—delete "shall continue" and substitute:

continues

- 10 (2) Section 8(2) to (5) (inclusive)—delete subsections (2) to (5) and substitute:
 - (2) The Board—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

54—Substitution of sections 9 to 13

20

15

5

Sections 9 to 13 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

9—Composition of Board

(1) The Board will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—

25

- (a) 2 will be members, officers or employees of councils nominated by the LGA (1 of whom must be a librarian employed in a public library or a community information officer employed by a council); and
- (b) 1 will be a person with experience in local government (who may, but need not, be a member, officer or employee of a council) nominated by the LGA; and
- (c) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.

(4)	The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.
5 10	Conditions of membership
(1)	A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
10 (2)	A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
(3)	The Governor may remove a member from office—
	(a) for misconduct; or
15	(b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
	(c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
20	 (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Board's affairs or the Board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
(4)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
	(a) dies; or
	(b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
25	(c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
	(d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
	(e) ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Board; or
30	(f) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Board from 3 consecutive meetings of the Board; or
	(g) is removed from office under subsection (3).
(5)	On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
35 (6)	A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.
11—]	Proceedings
(1)	A guard of the Deard consists of helf of the total guarder of its

(1) A quorum of the Board consists of half of the total number of its members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.

	(2)	In the absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.		
	(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Board.		
5	(4)	Each member present at a meeting of the Board has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.		
10	(5)	A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Board at which the participating members are present if—		
		(a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Board for the purpose; and		
15		(b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.		
	(6)	A proposed resolution of the Board becomes a valid decision of the Board despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Board if—		
20		(a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Board; and		
		 (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution. 		
25	(7)	The Board must meet at least 6 times in each year.		
	(8)	The Board must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.		
	(9)	Subject to this Act, the Board may determine its own procedures.		
	(10)	Subject to the directions of the Board and section 13A, this section applies to a committee of the Board in the same way as to the Board.		
30 12	2—V	alidity of acts		
		An act or proceeding of the Board or a committee of the Board is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.		
13	8—M	linisterial control		
35	(1)	Subject to subsection (2), the Board is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.		
	(2)	No Ministerial direction can be given—		
		(a) as to the nature or content of—		
		(i) library collections; or		
40		(ii) events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board; or		

		(b) suppressing the dissemination of information; or	
		 (c) preventing or controlling access by the public to librar materials at times when the libraries in which those materials are stored are open to the public; or 	У
5		(d) as to the manner in which the Board is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or	
		(e) as to any advice or recommendation that the Board main is required to make to the Minister.	akes or
	Divisi	on 2A—Committees and delegation	
10	13A—	Committees	
	(1)	The Board may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Board thinks fit.	
15	(2)	The membership and conditions of membership of a committee be determined by the Board and may, but need not, consist of, include, members of the Board.	
	(3)	The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—	
		(a) as determined by the Board; and	
20		(b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.	
	13B—	Delegation	
25	(1)	The Board may delegate a function or power of the Board under Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or common or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).	mittee
	(2)	A delegation under this section—	
		(a) must be by instrument in writing; and	
		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and	
30		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to a matter; and	ct in a
		(d) is revocable at will.	
	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.	
35	(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or persona interest.	
		Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.	
40	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) t prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence unaware of his or her interest in the matter.	

(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly
	signed by the Board containing particulars of a delegation under this
	section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as
	proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the
	particulars.

Division 2B—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

13C—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

A member of the Board will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the *Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995* by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with public librarians generally, or a substantial section of public librarians.

Division 2C—Common seal and execution of documents

13D—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Board must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Board and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Board.
- (2) The Board may, by instrument under the common seal of the Board, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Board subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Board may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Board.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Board if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Board is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Board by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Board, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Board was duly affixed to the document.

55—Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 3

Heading to Part 2 Division 3—delete the heading and substitute:

40

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Division 3—Functions and powers of Board

56—Amendment of section 14—Functions

(1) Section 14—delete "are as follows:" and substitute:

are—

(2) Section 14(f)—delete "departments and instrumentalities of Government, and with other authorities and bodies" and substitute:

an administrative unit of the Public Service or any other public sector agency (within the meaning of the *Public Sector Act 2009*) and any other authority or body

(3) Section 14(g)—delete "upon" and substitute:

on

- (4) Section 14(h) and (i)—delete paragraphs (h) and (i)
- (5) Section 14—after paragraph (n) insert:

and

(o) to carry out any other functions assigned to the Board under this or any other Act or by the Minister.

57—Substitution of sections 15 to 20

Sections 15 to 20 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

15—Powers

The Board has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under (1)this or any other Act, all the powers of a natural person. 20 The Board may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following (2)(subject to this Act): engage agents, consultants or other contractors; (a) enter into contracts or agreements with authors, librarians or (b) other persons involved in library services, or employ such 25 persons; enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements; (c) acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of (d) library materials; 30 (e) acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of-(i) licences; or intellectual property (including patents and (ii) copyright); or any other property (whether real or personal); or (iii) any interest in such property; (iv) 35 provide courses of training for such persons as the Board (f) thinks fit:

10

5

	(g)	accept grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any person or body;
	(h)	carry on advertising and promotional activities;
5	(i)	conduct events and establish, operate, manage or make available venues and other facilities (including facilities for food and liquor) at the State Library, another public library or any other premises of the Board;
	(j)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
10	(k)	charge and collect fees for admission to exhibitions, events or activities conducted on special occasions or for special purposes;
15	(1)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
	(m)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
20	(n)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
25	(0)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
	(p)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
	(q)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
30	(r)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in library services, or the promotion of library services;
35	(s)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage activities of an educational, historical, cultural or artistic nature within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
	(t)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
40	(u)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
	(v)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;

- (w) act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
- (3) However, the Board must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(u) or (v).
- (4) The Board may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

Division 4—Staff

16—Staff

- (1) The Board's staff consists of Public Service employees assigned to assist the Board.
- (2) The Board may, under an arrangement established by the Minister administering an administrative unit of the Public Service, make use of the services or staff of that administrative unit.

58—Substitution of heading to Part 2 Division 5

Heading to Part 2 Division 5—delete the heading to Division 5 and substitute:

Division 5—Financial matters and annual reports

59—Insertion of sections 18 to 20

Before section 21 insert:

18—Annual budget

- (1) The Board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Board's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Board by way of a testamentary or other gift.

19—Accounts and audit

(1) The Board must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Board, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.

10

5

20

15

25

30

- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Board and must audit the annual statements of account.

20—Annual report

- (1) The Board must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Board for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Board for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

60-Insertion of Parts 3 and 3A

Before Part 4 insert:

5

10

15

Part 3—Authorised officers

20	23—A	23—Appointment of authorised officers				
	(1)	The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.				
	(2)	Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.				
25	(3)	An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).				
30	(4)	An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—				
		(a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and				
35		(b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and				
		(c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.				

(5)	An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—	
5	(a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and	
	(b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.	
(6)	If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.	
	Maximum penalty: \$250.	
24—P	owers of authorised officers	
(1)	If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while at a library or other premises of the Board, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:	
	(a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;	
20	 (b) if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence; 	
25	 (c) require the person to leave the library or those premises immediately and not to return for a stated period or not to enter the library or those premises; 	
	 (d) if the person refuses or fails to comply with a requirement under paragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of removing or excluding the person from the library or those premises; 	
30	(e) cause the person to be detained and handed over into the custody of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.	
(2)	An authorised officer may also—	
35	 (a) require a person to surrender any object, substance or thing that the authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is being, or is about to be, used at a library or other premises of the Board in contravention of this Act; and 	
	(b) give such directions to persons at a library or other premises of the Board that the authorised officer considers necessary for—	

5			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at the library or those premises; or
			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Board; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
10			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from a library or other premises of the Board a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 29; and
15		(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
	(3)		anied by	fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be v such assistants as are reasonably required in the
20	(4)	premise		s of this section, a reference to a <i>library or other</i> <i>Board</i> includes a reference to a part of a library or
	25—Н	inderin	ng etc a	uthorised officers
	(1)	A perso	on who—	-
25		(a)	without officer;	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised or
		(b)		answer a question put by an authorised officer to the his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
		(c)	-	es a document that he or she knows, or ought to is false or misleading in a material particular; or
30		(d)		thout reasonable excuse to comply with a ment or direction of an authorised officer under this
35		(e)		usive, threatening or insulting language to an sed officer or a person assisting an authorised officer;
		(f)	-	represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an sed officer,
		is guilty	y of an o	ffence.
		Maxim	um pena	lty: \$2 500.
40	(2)	docume	ent as rec	obliged to answer a question or to produce a quired under this Act if to do so might tend to person or make the person liable to a penalty.

Part 3A—Official insignia

26—Interpretation

(1) In this Part—

official insignia means-

- (a) an official title (declared under section 27); or
- (b) a logo (declared under section 27); or
- (c) a combination of the above.
- (2) For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—
 - (a) the goods; or
 - (b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
 - (c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
 - (d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.

27—Official titles and logos

- (1) State Library of South Australia is declared to be an official title.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—
 - (a) declare some other name under which the Board may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
 - (b) declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Board to be an official title; or
 - (c) declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Board or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Board.
- (3) However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
- (4) An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.
- (5) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice under this section.

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

10

5

15

20

25

35

28-Unlawful use of official insignia

	(1)	The Board has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.	
	(2)	A person must not, without the consent of the Board, in the course of a trade or business—	
5		 (a) use a name in which the Board has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or 	
		(b) sell goods marked with official insignia; or	
10		(c) use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.	
		Maximum penalty: \$20 000.	
	(3)	A person must not, without the consent of the Board, assume a name or description that consists of, or includes, official insignia. Maximum penalty: \$20 000.	
15	(4)	A consent under this section—	
		(a) may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Board); and	
		(b) may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and	
20		(c) may be revoked by the Board for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.	
	(5)	The Supreme Court may, on the application of the Board, grant an injunction to restrain a breach of this section.	
25	(6)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this section may, on the application of the Board, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the Board.	
30	(7)	Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that may be available to the Board apart from those subsections.	
	29—S	eizure etc of goods marked with official insignia	
	(1)	If—	
		(a) goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and	
35		(b) an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Board,	
		the authorised officer may seize those goods.	

	(2)	If goods	have been seized under this section and—	
		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 28(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or	
5		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,	
		the perse	on from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—	
10		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and	
		(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.	
	(3)		on for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may ght against the Board in any court of competent jurisdiction.	
15	(4)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to the Crown.		
20	(5)	Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.		
	61—Substitution of s	section 3	35	
	Section 35—del	ete the se	ction and substitute:	
		-	certain material to be lodged with Board and entary Librarian	
25	(1)	which the after put	to this section, if a person or body publishes material to his section applies, the person or body must, within 1 month blication, provide a copy of the material to the Board, and a the Parliamentary Librarian, at the person's own expense.	
		Maximu	im penalty: \$2 500.	
30	(2)	from the a specifi	n or body may, by notice in writing to the person or body e Parliamentary Librarian, be exempted from providing all or ted part of the material required to be provided to the entary Librarian under subsection (1).	
35	(3)	of differ must be	ial to which this section applies is published in various forms ing quality, the copies to be provided under subsection (1) of the finest quality (unless provided in electronic form absection (4)).	
		Maximu	um penalty: \$2 500.	
40	(4)		of material may only be provided under subsection (1) in ic form—	
		(a)	if it is material or material of a kind prescribed by regulation; or	
	108		HA GP 020 B OPC 140	

			(b)	in the case of material to be provided to the Board—with the agreement in writing of the Board; or
5			(c)	in the case of material to be provided to the Parliamentary Librarian—with the agreement in writing of the Parliamentary Librarian.
		(5)	A recei	pt must be issued for material provided under this section.
		(6)		ction applies to material of South Australian origin, or al that has particular relevance to this State, in the form of—
			(a)	a book, or a part or division of a book; or
10			(b)	a newspaper, magazine, journal or pamphlet; or
			(c)	a map, plan, chart or table; or
			(d)	printed music; or
15			(e)	a record, cassette, film, video or audio tape, CD, DVD or other item made available to the public, designed to store and facilitate the reproduction of visual images, sound or information.
		(7)	This se	ction does not apply to—
			(a)	a second or subsequent edition of material referred to in subsection (6) that does not differ from a former edition; or
20			(b)	material or material of a kind prescribed by regulation.
	62—R	Repeal of sectio	ns 37 to	o 39
		Sections 37 to 3	9 (inclus	sive)—delete the sections
		Amendment and naterials are to		ignation of section 40—Conditions on which library t etc
25	(1)	Section 40(1)(b))—delete	e "upon" and substitute:
		on		
	(2)	Section 40(2)—	delete sı	ubsection (2) and substitute:
30		(2)	refuses	on by whom a fine is payable under subsection (1) who or fails to comply with a demand by the Board for payment ine is guilty of an offence.
			Maxim	um penalty: \$1 250.
	(3)	Section 40—rec	lesignate	the section (as amended by this section) as section 37

64—Insertion of section 38

After section 37 (as redesignated by section 63(3) of this Act) insert:

38—Gifts etc

(1)	The Board may accept—
-----	-----------------------

- (a) grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
- (b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
- (c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) A gift or bequest made to or for the benefit or purposes of—
 - (a) a library administered by the Board; or
 - (b) the governing body of such a library; or
 - (c) the former Institutes Association of South Australia; or
 - (d) institutes that were formerly members of that Association,

will be taken to be a gift or bequest to the Board and must be applied by the Board towards the purposes for which the gift or bequest was made.

(3) Despite the *Stamp Duties Act 1923*, no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Board or on any contract or instrument executed by the Board for the purpose of disposing of any property.

25 **65—Substitution of sections 41 to 43**

Sections 41 to 43 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

39—Ministerial delegation

- (1) The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.

30

35

5

10

15

5	(4)	signed b this sect	by the Minister ion, will, that the	ngs, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly nister containing particulars of a delegation under in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted delegation was made in accordance with the
	40—A	pprova	ls by Tr	easurer
	(1)	An appr	oval give	n by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
		(a)	specific	or general; and
		(b)	conditio	nal or unconditional.
10	(2)		oval give er at any	n by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the time.
	41—R	egulatio	ons	
	(1)			ay make such regulations as are contemplated by, or edient for the purposes of, this Act.
15	(2)	Without may—	limiting	the generality of subsection (1), the regulations
		(a)	-	for the use, care and protection of objects, works, ns or any other property under the care or control of d; and
20		(b)	member	for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of s of the public to or from a library or other premises pard or a part of a library or those premises; and
		(c)	-	disorderly or offensive behaviour at a library or emises of the Board; and
25		(d)	accessin	the use of computers at a library for the purposes of g or transmitting defamatory, obscene or other e material;
30		(e)	smoking library o	or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), or the consumption of unlawful substances at a r other premises of the Board or a part of a library premises; and
		(f)	prohibit purposes	or regulate any other conduct or activities for the s of—
35				maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, at a library or other premises of the Board; and
				protecting property under the care or control of the Board; and
40		(g)	-	or regulate the driving, parking or standing of on premises of the Board; and
		(h)	-	e fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the nd provide for their payment and recovery; and

		(i)	provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
5		(j)	provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Board of unclaimed property; and
		(k)	provide for the approval by the Board or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
10		(1)	prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.
	(3)	The reg	gulations may—
		(a)	be of general or limited application; and
15		(b)	make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
		(c)	provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the Board or another prescribed person or authority.
20	(4)	-	eedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the , parking or standing of vehicles—
25		(a)	an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
		(b)	if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.
30	Part 8—Amendr Act 1992	ment o	of South Australian Country Arts Trust
	66—Amendment of	section	3—Interpretation
	Section 3(1)—c	lelete sub	osection (1) and substitute:
	(1)	In this	Act, unless the contrary intention appears—
35		author	ised officer—see Part 3;
			<i>ing authority</i> means the person designated by proclamation g the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;
		membe	<i>r</i> means member of the Trust;
40			, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, sion or control of the premises;

official insignia-see Part 4;

premises of the Trust means premises owned or occupied by the Trust;

proclaimed region means an area declared by proclamation as a region for the purposes of this Act;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;

Trust means the South Australian Country Arts Trust established under this Act.

67—Substitution of heading to Part 2

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—South Australian Country Arts Trust

Division 1—Establishment of Trust

15 **68—Substitution of sections 5 to 12**

Sections 5 to 12 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

5—Composition of Trust

- (1) The Trust will consist of not more than 9 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—
 - (a) 1 will be selected from a panel of persons nominated by the Local Government Association of South Australia;
 - (b) 5 will be nominated by the Minister to represent proclaimed regions; and
 - (c) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.
- (5) A person is not eligible to be appointed to represent a proclaimed region unless the person resides in the region.

5

10

20

25

6—Conditions of membership

	(1)	conditi	ber will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on ons determined by the Governor and specified in the nent of appointment.
5	(2)	eligible	ber will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be e for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
	(3)	The Go	overnor may remove a member from office—
		(a)	for misconduct; or
10		(b)	for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
		(c)	for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
15		(d)	if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Trust's affairs or the Trust has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
	(4)	The off	fice of a member becomes vacant if the member—
		(a)	dies; or
20		(b)	completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
		(c)	resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
		(d)	is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
25		(e)	ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Trust; or
		(f)	is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Trust from 3 consecutive meetings of the Trust; or
		(g)	is removed from office under subsection (3).
30	(5)		office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be ted in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
	(6)		ber of the Trust is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses ined by the Governor.
	7—Pr	oceedin	ngs
35	(1)		um of the Trust consists of half of the total number of its ers (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.
	(2)		absence of the presiding member from a meeting of the Trust, ber chosen by the members present at the meeting will
40	(3)		sion carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a g is a decision of the Trust.

	(4)	question	n arising	resent at a meeting of the Trust has 1 vote on any for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member meeting may exercise a casting vote.
5	(5)	member	s will, f	telephone or other electronic means between or the purposes of this section, be taken to be a Trust at which the participating members are present
		(a)		of the conference is given to all members in the determined by the Trust for the purpose; and
10		(b)	-	rticipating member is capable of communicating ery other participating member during the nce.
15	(6)			lution of the Trust becomes a valid decision of the e fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Trust
		(a)		f the proposed resolution is given to all members in nce with procedures determined by the Trust; and
20		(b)	propose	ity of the members expresses concurrence in the ed resolution by letter, fax or other written nication setting out the terms of the resolution.
	(7)	The Tru	st must	meet at least 6 times in each year.
	(8)	The Tru	st must	have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
	(9)	Subject	to this A	ct, the Trust may determine its own procedures.
25	(10)	•		rections of the Trust and section 10, this section mittee of the Trust in the same way as to the Trust.
	8—Va	lidity of	f acts	
		invalid	by reaso	eding of the Trust or a committee of the Trust is not n only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in of a member.
30	9—M i	inisteria	l contr	ol
	(1)			ction (2), the Trust is subject to the general control the Minister.
	(2)	No Min	isterial d	irection can be given—
		(a)	as to the	e artistic nature or content of—
35			(i)	objects, works or collections held or promoted by the Trust; or
			(ii)	performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust; or
40		(b)		e manner in which the Trust is to deal with a ntary or other gift; or

(c) as to any advice or recommendation that the Trust makes or is required to make to the Minister.

Division 3—Committees and delegation

10 C

	10—C	ommittees
5	(1)	The Trust may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Trust thinks fit.
	(2)	The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Trust and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Trust.
10	(3)	The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
		(a) as determined by the Trust; and
		(b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.
15	11—D	elegation
	(1)	The Trust may delegate a function or power of the Trust under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
20	(2)	A delegation under this section—
		(a) must be by instrument in writing; and
		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and
		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
25		(d) is revocable at will.
	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
30	(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.
		Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.
35	(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Trust containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

Division 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector
(Honesty and Accountability) Act

12—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

A member of the Trust will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the *Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995* by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

12A—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Trust must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Trust and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Trust.
- (2) The Trust may, by instrument under the common seal of the Trust, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Trust subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Trust may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Trust.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Trust if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Trust is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Trust by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Trust, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Trust was duly affixed to the document.

Division 6—Functions and powers of Trust

35	12B—Function	ns
	The func	ctions of the Trust are—
	. ,	to advise the Minister on matters of policy related to country arts; and
	(b)	to act as an advocate for country arts; and
40	(c)	to manage the development of country arts; and

5

10

15

20

25

	(d)	to establish and maintain an information service for country arts; and
5	(e)	to develop and manage programs for the touring of country arts activities within the State or within or outside of the State; and
	(f)	to provide, manage and control premises and facilities for country arts; and
10	(g)	to evaluate and be responsible for the financial and artistic performance of country arts activities funded by the Trust; and
	(h)	to provide ticketing services for productions or events of any kind staged or promoted by the Trust or any other person; and
15	(i)	to carry out any other functions assigned to the Trust under this or any other Act or by the Minister.
12C	-Powers	5
(1		ust has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
20 (2		ust may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following t to this Act):
	(a)	engage agents, consultants or other contractors;
	(b)	enter into contracts or agreements with artists, performers, entertainers and other persons involved in the arts, or employ such persons;
25	(c)	enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
	(d)	acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of objects, works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural interest;
	(e)	acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of—
30		(i) licences; or
		(ii) intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
		(iii) any other property (whether real or personal); or
		(iv) any interest in such property;
35	(f)	accept grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any person or body;
	(g)	carry on advertising and promotional activities;
40	(h)	conduct events and establish, operate, manage or make available venues and other facilities (including facilities for food and liquor) on premises of the Trust;

		(i)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;
5		(j)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
10		(k)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
		(1)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
15		(m)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Trust;
		(n)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
20		(0)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
		(p)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in the arts, or the promotion of the arts;
25		(q)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(r)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
30		(s)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
		(t)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
35		(u)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
	(3)		er, the Trust must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, e a power referred to in subsection $(2)(s)$ or (t) .
	(4)	The Tru	ist may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

69—Insertion of heading to Division 7

Before section 13 insert:

Division 7—Staffing arrangements

70—Substitution of sections 14 to 19

Sections 14 to 19 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports

14—Annual budget

- (1) The Trust must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Trust's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Trust must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Trust is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Trust by way of a testamentary or other gift.

15—Accounts and audit

- (1) The Trust must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Trust, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Trust and must audit the annual statements of account.

16—Annual report

(1) The Trust must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Trust for the preceding financial year.

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Trust for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

71—Substitution of Part 4

5

Part 4—delete the Part and substitute:

Part 3—Authorised officers

17—Appointment of authorised officers

10 The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the (1)purposes of this Act. Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this (2)Act. An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to (3) 15 conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment). An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with (4) an identity card-20 containing the person's name and a photograph of the (a) person; and (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised 25 (c) officer's authority. An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to (5) whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the personin the case of an authorised officer appointed under 30 (a) subsection (1)-his or her identity card; and in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer (b) and is not in uniform-his or her certificate of authority. (6)If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must 35 immediately return the identity card to the Minister. Maximum penalty: \$250.

18—Powers of authorised officers

5	1)	premise commit	es of the an offen	officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on Trust, has committed, is committing or is about to ace against this or any other Act, the authorised any 1 or more of the following:
		(a)	-	the person to state his or her full name and usual f residence;
10		(b)	the nam person t	athorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that ne or place of residence stated is false—require the to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual f residence;
		(c)	not to re	the person to leave those premises immediately and eturn for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or nter those premises;
15		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement aragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ry for the purpose of removing or excluding the from those premises;
20		(e)		ne person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
(2)	An auth	norised of	fficer may also—
25		(a)	that the being, c	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used on premises of the Trust in ention of this Act; and
		(b)	-	ch directions to persons on premises of the Trust that norised officer considers necessary for—
30			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, on those premises; or
			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Trust; and
		(c)	use sucl	h force as may reasonably be required—
35			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from premises of the Trust a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
40			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 23; and
		(d)	exercise	e any other prescribed power.

	(3)	An authorised officer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be accompanied by such assistants as are reasonably required in the circumstances.		
5	(4)	For the purposes of this section, a reference to <i>premises of the Trust</i> includes a reference to a part of those premises.		
	19—H	lindering etc authorised officers		
	(1)	A person who—		
		(a) without reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised officer; or		
10		(b) fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or		
		(c) produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or		
15		 (d) fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or 		
		(e) uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or		
20		(f) falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,		
		is guilty of an offence.		
		Maximum penalty: \$2 500.		
25	(2)	A person is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a document as required under this Act if to do so might tend to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.		
	Part	4—Official insignia		
		nterpretation		
	(1)	In this Part—		
30		official insignia means—		
		(a) an official title (declared under section 21); or		
		(b) a logo (declared under section 21); or		
		(c) a combination of the above.		
35	(2)	For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—		
		(a) the goods; or		
		(b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or		

		(c)	anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
		(d)	anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.
5	21—0	Official	titles and logos
	(1)	The fol	lowing are declared to be official titles:
		(a)	South Australian Country Arts Trust;
		(b)	Country Arts SA.
	(2)	The Mi	nister may, by notice in the Gazette—
10		(a)	declare some other name under which the Trust may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust to be an official title; or
15		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Trust or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Trust.
20	(3)	subsect otherw with th	er, the Minister must not make a declaration under tion (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or ise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting e consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of istration or protection.
25	(4)		cial title declared under this section is not required to be red or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)		nister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.
	22—U	nlawfu	l use of official insignia
	(1)	The Tr	ust has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
30	(2)		on must not, without the consent of the Trust, in the course of or business—
		(a)	use a name in which the Trust has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
35		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or
		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
40	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Trust, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.

	(4)	A consent under this section—
		(a) may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Trust); and
5		(b) may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
		(c) may be revoked by the Trust for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
10	(5)	The Supreme Court may, on the application of the Trust, grant an injunction to restrain a breach of this section.
	(6)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this section may, on the application of the Trust, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the Trust.
15	(7)	Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that may be available to the Trust apart from those subsections.
23	3—Se	eizure etc of goods marked with official insignia
	(1)	If—
20		(a) goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
		(b) an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Trust,
		the authorised officer may seize those goods.
	(2)	If goods have been seized under this section and—
25		 (a) proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 22(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
		(b) after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
30		the person from whom they were seized is entitled to recover-
		(c) the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
35		(d) compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
	(3)	An action for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may be brought against the Trust in any court of competent jurisdiction.
	(4)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to
40		the Crown.

(5) Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.

Part 5—Miscellaneous

24—Gifts etc

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (1) The Trust may accept—
 - (a) grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
 - (b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
 - (c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Despite the *Stamp Duties Act 1923*, no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Trust or on any contract or instrument executed by the Trust for the purpose of disposing of any property.

25—Ministerial delegation

- (1) The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

26—Approvals by Treasurer

- (1) An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
 - (a) specific or general; and

- (b) conditional or unconditional.
- (2) An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.

27—Regulations

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

(1)	The Governor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or
	necessary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.

- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may—
 - (a) provide for the use, care and protection of objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the Trust; and
 - (b) provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from premises of the Trust or a part of those premises; and
 - (c) prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of the Trust; and
 - (d) prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances on premises of the Trust or a part of those premises; and
 - (e) prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—
 - (i) maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, on premises of the Trust; and
 - (ii) protecting property under the care or control of the Trust; and
 - (f) prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles on premises of the Trust; and
 - (g) prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the Trust and provide for their payment and recovery; and
 - (h) provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
 - (i) provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Trust of unclaimed property; and
 - (j) provide for the approval by the Trust or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
 - (k) prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.

The regulations may—		
(a)	be of general or limited application; and	
(b)	make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and	
(c)	provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the Trust or another prescribed person or authority.	
-	eedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the , parking or standing of vehicles—	
(a)	an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and	
(b)	if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.	
ment o	the vehicle. If South Australian Film Corporation	
	(a) (b) (c) In procedriving (a) (b)	

20

25

30

35

5

10

15

72—Amendment of section 4—Interpretation

- (1) Section 4(1)—delete subsection (1) and substitute:
 - (1) In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears—

authorised officer—see Part 3;

Chief Executive Officer means the person for the time being holding or acting in the office of Chief Executive Officer under this Act;

Corporation means the South Australian Film Corporation established under this Act;

council has the same meaning as in the Local Government Act 1999;

employing authority means the person designated by proclamation as being the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;

film means a photographic film or a recording on magnetic tape or on any other material or device from which a series of images (with or without associated sounds) may be produced and includes such a photographic film or recording for use in a television program;

member means member of the Corporation;

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia-see Part 4;

premises of the Corporation means premises owned or occupied by the Corporation;

producer, in relation to a film, means the person by whom the arrangements necessary for the making of the film are made;

promote, in relation to a film, event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager.

(2)Section 4, note—delete the note

73—Substitution of heading to Part 2

10

5

Heading to Part 2—delete the heading and substitute:

Part 2—South Australian Film Corporation

74—Substitution of sections 5 to 8

Sections 5 to 8 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 1—Establishment of Corporation

15	5—Establishment of Corporation
	(1) The South Australian Film Corporation is established.
	(2) The Corporation—
	(a) is a body corporate; and
	(b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
20	(c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
	(d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
	(e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.
25	Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc
	6—Composition of Corporation
	(1) The Corporation will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor.
	(2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
30	(3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
	(4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.
35	(5) The Chief Executive Officer is eligible for appointment to the Corporation.

7—Conditions of membership

	(1)	conditi	ber will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on ons determined by the Governor and specified in the nent of appointment.
5	(2)	eligible other th	ber will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be e for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person han the Chief Executive Officer cannot serve as a member for han 9 consecutive years).
	(3)	The Go	overnor may remove a member from office—
10		(a)	for misconduct; or
		(b)	for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
		(c)	for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
15		(d)	if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Corporation's affairs or the Corporation has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
	(4)	The of	fice of a member becomes vacant if the member—
20		(a)	dies; or
		(b)	completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
		(c)	resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
		(d)	is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
25		(e)	ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Corporation; or
		(f)	is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Corporation from 3 consecutive meetings of the Corporation; or
30		(g)	is removed from office under subsection (3).
	(5)		office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be ted in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
	(6)	A mem the Go	ber is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by vernor.
35	8—Pr	oceedir	ngs
	(1)	-	um of the Corporation consists of half of the total number of nbers (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division)
40	(2)	Corpor	absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the ation, a member chosen by the members present at the g will preside.

(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Corporation.				
5 (4)	Each member present at a meeting of the Corporation has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.				
(5)	A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Corporation at which the participating members are present if—				
10	(a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Corporation for the purpose; and				
	 (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference. 				
15 (6)	A proposed resolution of the Corporation becomes a valid decision of the Corporation despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Corporation if—				
20	 (a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Corporation; and 				
	 (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution. 				
(7)	The Corporation must meet at least 6 times in each year.				
25 (8)	The Corporation must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.				
(9)	Subject to this Act, the Corporation may determine its own procedures.				
(10)	Subject to the directions of the Corporation and section 8C, this section applies to a committee of the Corporation in the same way as to the Corporation.				
8A—V	alidity of acts				
	An act or proceeding of the Corporation or a committee of the Corporation is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.				
35 8B — N	Ainisterial control				
(1)	Subject to subsection (2), the Corporation is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.				
(2)	No Ministerial direction can be given—				
	(a) as to the artistic nature or content of—				
40	(i) films produced or promoted by the Corporation; or				

- (ii) events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation; or
- (b) as to the manner in which the Corporation is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
- (c) as to any advice or recommendation that the Corporation makes or is required to make to the Minister.

Division 3—Committees and delegation

8C—Committees

- (1) The Corporation may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Corporation thinks fit.
- (2) The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Corporation and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Corporation.
- (3) The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
 - (a) as determined by the Corporation; and
 - (b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.

8D—Delegation

- (1) The Corporation may delegate a function or power of the Corporation under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
 - (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
 - (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
 - (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.

Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.

- (5) It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.
 - HA GP 020-B OPC 149

10

5

15

25

20

30

(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly
	signed by the Corporation containing particulars of a delegation
	under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be
	accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with
	the particulars.

Division 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

8E—Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act

A member of the Corporation will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the *Public Sector* (*Honesty and Accountability*) *Act 1995* by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the film industry generally, or a substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the film industry.

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

8F—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Corporation must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Corporation and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Corporation.
- (2) The Corporation may, by instrument under the common seal of the Corporation, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Corporation subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Corporation may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Corporation.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Corporation if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Corporation is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Corporation by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Corporation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Corporation was duly affixed to the document.

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Division 6—Staffing Arrangements

75—Amendment of section 9—Appointment of Chief Executive Officer

Section 9(2)—delete the subsection and substitute:

(2) However, the employing authority must consult with the Corporation before appointing a person as Chief Executive Officer or removing a person from office as Chief Executive Officer.

76—Insertion of heading to Part 2 Division 7

Before section 10 insert:

Division 7—Functions and powers of Corporation

10 77—Amendment of section 10—Functions

- (1) Section 10—delete ", generally"
- (2) Section 10—after paragraph (f) insert:

and

- (g) to advise the Minister on matters relating to the development and promotion of the South Australian film industry; and
- (h) to carry out any other functions assigned to the Corporation under this or any other Act or by the Minister.

78—Substitution of section 11

Section 11—delete the section and substitute:

11—Powers

- (1) The Corporation has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it under this or any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
- (2) The Corporation may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following (subject to this Act):
 - (a) engage agents, consultants or other contractors;
 - (b) enter into contracts or agreements with actors, writers, artists, performers, entertainers and other persons for the making, distribution and exhibition of films, or employ such persons;
 - (c) enter into other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
 - (d) carry on film production on its own behalf or for another person or organisation;
 - (e) for the purpose of participating in a scheme for the financing of film production—advance money to a person or persons on such security and conditions as the Corporation thinks fit;
 - (f) establish regional film libraries throughout the State;

15

20

25

30

35

	(g)	acquire, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of objects or materials for use in connection with film making, producing, projecting and screening;		
	(h)	acquire, hold, deal with or dispose of—		
5		(i) licences; or		
		(ii) intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or		
		(iii) any other property (whether real or personal); or		
		(iv) any interest in such property;		
10	(i)	accept grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any person or body;		
	(j)	carry on advertising and promotional activities;		
15	(k)	conduct events and establish, operate, manage or make available venues and other facilities (including facilities for food and liquor) on premises of the Corporation;		
	(1)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;		
20	(m)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;		
25	(n)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;		
	(0)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;		
30	(p)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Corporation;		
	(q)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;		
35	(r)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;		
40	(s)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in film, or the promotion of film;		
	(t)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;		

- (u) enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
- (v) form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
- (w) borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
- (x) act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
- (3) However, the Corporation must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(v) or (w).
- (4) The Corporation may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

79—Substitution of sections 12 to 24

Sections 12 to 24 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

Division 8—Financial matters and annual reports

12—Annual budget

- (1) The Corporation must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Corporation's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Corporation must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Corporation is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Corporation by way of a testamentary or other gift.

13—Accounts and audit

(1) The Corporation must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Corporation, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.

15

20

25

30

35

(2)	The accounting records and the statements of account must comply
	with—

- (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
- (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Corporation and must audit the annual statements of account.

14—Annual report

- (1) The Corporation must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Corporation for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Corporation for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

Part 3—Authorised officers

15—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and

20

5

10

15

30

25

35

	(b)		ase of an authorised officer who is a police officer ot in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
5	under ti immedi	his section iately retr	ssession of an identity card issued to the person on ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must arm the identity card to the Minister.
	Maxim	um penal	lty: \$250.
16—F	Powers (of autho	orised officers
10 (1)	premise about to	es of the of commit	officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on Corporation, has committed, is committing or is an offence against this or any other Act, the er may do any 1 or more of the following:
	(a)	-	the person to state his or her full name and usual f residence;
15	(b)	the nam person	athorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that ne or place of residence stated is false—require the to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual f residence;
20	(c)	not to re	the person to leave those premises immediately and eturn for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or nter those premises;
	(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement aragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ry for the purpose of removing or excluding the from those premises;
25	(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
(2)	An auth	norised of	fficer may also—
30	(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used on premises of the Corporation ravention of this Act; and
	(b)		ch directions to persons on premises of the ation that the authorised officer considers necessary
35		(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, on those premises; or
40		(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Corporation; and
	(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—

		(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from premises of the Corporation a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or	
5		(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 21; and	
	(d)	exercise	e any other prescribed power.	
(3)	An authorised officer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be accompanied by such assistants as are reasonably required in the circumstances.			
(4)			s of this section, a reference to <i>premises of the</i> cludes a reference to a part of those premises.	
17—1	Hinderi	ng etc a	uthorised officers	
(1)	A perso	on who—	-	
15	(a)	without officer;	reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised or	
	(b)		answer a question put by an authorised officer to the his or her knowledge, information or belief; or	
20	(c)	-	es a document that he or she knows, or ought to s false or misleading in a material particular; or	
	(d)		thout reasonable excuse to comply with a ment or direction of an authorised officer under this	
25	(e)		usive, threatening or insulting language to an sed officer or a person assisting an authorised officer;	
	(f)	•	represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an sed officer,	
	is guilt	y of an of	ffence.	
30	Maxim	num penal	lty: \$2 500.	
(2)	docum	ent as req	obliged to answer a question or to produce a puired under this Act if to do so might tend to person or make the person liable to a penalty.	
Part	; 4—0	fficial	insignia	
35 18 —]	Interpre	etation		
(1)	In this Part—			
	official insignia means—			
	(a)	an offic	tial title (declared under section 19); or	
	(b)	a logo ((declared under section 19); or	

(c)

(2) For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—

 (a) the goods; or

a combination of the above.

- (b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
- (c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
- (d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.

19—Official titles and logos

- (1) South Australian Film Corporation is declared to be an official title.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—
 - (a) declare some other name under which the Corporation may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
 - (b) declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Corporation to be an official title; or
 - (c) declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Corporation or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Corporation.
- (3) However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
- (4) An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.
- (5) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice under this section.

20-Unlawful use of official insignia

- (1) The Corporation has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
- (2) A person must not, without the consent of the Corporation, in the course of a trade or business—
 - (a) use a name in which the Corporation has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
 - (b) sell goods marked with official insignia; or

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
5	(3)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Corporation, assume a r description that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A cons	ent under this section—
		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Corporation); and
10		(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
		(c)	may be revoked by the Corporation for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
15	(5)		preme Court may, on the application of the Corporation, grant nction to restrain a breach of this section.
20	(6)	section convict	urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this may, on the application of the Corporation, order the ted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the the Corporation.
	(7)		tions (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that available to the Corporation apart from those subsections.
	21—S	eizure (etc of goods marked with official insignia
	(1)	If—	
25		(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
		(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Corporation,
30		the auth	norised officer may seize those goods.
	(2)	If good	s have been seized under this section and—
		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section $20(2)$ in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
35		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
		the pers	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
40		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and

- (d) compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
- (3) An action for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may be brought against the Corporation in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (4) The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to the Crown.
- (5) Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.

80—Redesignation of Part 6—Miscellaneous

Part 6-redesignate Part 6 (Miscellaneous) as Part 5

81—Insertion of sections 22 to 24

- 1	5
1	Э

20

25

35

40

5

10

Before section 25 insert:

22—Gifts etc

(1) The Corporation may accept—

(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the
	Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person
	or body; and

- (b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
- (c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Despite the *Stamp Duties Act 1923*, no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Corporation or on any contract or instrument executed by the Corporation for the purpose of disposing of any property.

30

23—Ministerial delegation

(1) The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).

(2) A delegation under this section—

- (a) must be by instrument in writing; and
- (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
- (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
- (d) is revocable at will.

- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

24—Approvals by Treasurer

- (1) An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
 - (a) specific or general; and
 - (b) conditional or unconditional.
- (2) An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.

82—Substitution of sections 30 to 33

15 Sections 30 to 33 (inclusive)—delete the sections and substitute:

30—Regulations

- (1) The Governor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or necessary or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations may—
 - (a) provide for the use, care and protection of films, materials, equipment, objects, works, collections or any other property under the care or control of the Corporation; and
 - (b) provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from premises of the Corporation or a part of those premises; and
 - (c) prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of the Corporation; and
 - (d) prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances on premises of the Corporation or a part of those premises; and
 - (e) prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—
 - (i) maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, on premises of the Corporation; and
 - (ii) protecting property under the care or control of the Corporation; and
 - (f) prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles on premises of the Corporation; and

10

5

20

25

35

40

		(g)	prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the Corporation and provide for their payment and recovery; and
5		(h)	provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
		(i)	provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Corporation of unclaimed property; and
10		(j)	provide for the approval by the Corporation or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
		(k)	prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.
15	(3)	The reg	gulations may—
		(a)	be of general or limited application; and
		(b)	make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
20		(c)	provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the Corporation or another prescribed person or authority.
	(4)	-	eedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the , parking or standing of vehicles—
25		(a)	an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
30		(b)	if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.
	Part 10—Amend 83—Substitution of		of South Australian Museum Act 1976 5

35

40

Section 5—delete section 5 and substitute:

2—Interpretation

In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears—

authorised officer—see Part 3;

Board means the Museum Board continued under this Act;

member means member of the Board;

Museum means the South Australian Museum (formerly known under the repealed Act as the State Museum);

occupy, in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;

official insignia—see Part 5;

premises of the Board means premises owned or occupied by the Board;

promote, in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;

repealed Act means the Museum Act 1939 repealed by this Act;

State collection means all property of scientific or historical interest vested in the Board.

84—Substitution of Parts 2 to 3

15

20

25

30

5

10

Parts 2 to 3 (inclusive)—delete the Parts and substitute:

Part 2—Museum Board

Division 1—Continuation of Museum Board

3—Continuation of Museum Board

- (1) The Museum Board established under the repealed Act continues in existence.
- (2) The Board—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this Act.
- (3) The rights and obligations vested in, and enforceable against, the Museum Board under the repealed Act are vested in, or enforceable against, the Board under this Act.

Division 2—Membership, proceedings etc

4—Composition of Board

(1) The Board will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor.

- (2) At least 1 member must be a person with expertise in a scientific field relating to the State collection.
- (3) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (4) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (5) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

5—Conditions of membership

- (1) A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
- (2) A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
- (3) The Governor may remove a member from office—
 - (a) for misconduct; or
 - (b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
 - (c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or
 - (d) if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Board's affairs or the Board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
- (4) The office of a member becomes vacant if the member—
 - (a) dies; or
 - (b) completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
 - (c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
 - (d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
 - (e) ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Board; or
 - (f) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Board from 3 consecutive meetings of the Board; or
 - (g) is removed from office under subsection (3).
- (5) On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
- (6) A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

6—Proceedings

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

(1)	A quorum of the Board consists of half of the total number of its
	members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.

- (2) In the absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
- (3) A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Board.
- (4) Each member present at a meeting of the Board has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
- (5) A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Board at which the participating members are present if—
 - (a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Board for the purpose; and
 - (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.
- (6) A proposed resolution of the Board becomes a valid decision of the Board despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Board if—
 - (a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Board; and
 - (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution.
- (7) The Board must meet at least 6 times in each year.
- (8) The Board must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
- (9) Subject to this Act, the Board may determine its own procedures.
- (10) Subject to the directions of the Board and section 9, this section applies to a committee of the Board in the same way as to the Board.

7-Validity of acts

An act or proceeding of the Board or a committee of the Board is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

8—Ministerial control

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Board is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.
- (2) No Ministerial direction can be given—
 - (a) as to the nature or content of—

(i)

(ii)

the State collection; or

events or activities conducted or promoted by the

			Board; or
5		(b)	as to the manner in which the Board is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
		(c)	as to any advice or recommendation that the Board makes or is required to make to the Minister.
	Divisi	on 3—	Committees and delegation
	9—Co	ommitte	ees
10	(1)		ard may establish such committees (including advisory ttees or subcommittees) as the Board thinks fit.
	(2)	be deter	embership and conditions of membership of a committee will rmined by the Board and may, but need not, consist of, or e, members of the Board.
15	(3)		ocedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the ss of a committee will be—
		(a)	as determined by the Board; and
		(b)	insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.
20	10—D	elegati	on
	(1)	Act (oth or other	bard may delegate a function or power of the Board under this her than this power of delegation) to any person or committee r body (including a person for the time being performing lar duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
25	(2)	A deleg	gation under this section—
		(a)	must be by instrument in writing; and
		(b)	may be absolute or conditional; and
		(c)	does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
30		(d)	is revocable at will.
	(3)		tion or power delegated under this section may, if the nent of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
35	(4)		gate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal c.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
	(5)		lefence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to hat the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence,

unaware of his or her interest in the matter.

(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly
	signed by the Board containing particulars of a delegation under this
	section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as
	proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the
	particulars.

Division 4—Common seal and execution of documents

11-Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the Board must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Board and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Board.
- (2) The Board may, by instrument under the common seal of the Board, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the Board subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Board may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Board.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the Board if—
 - (a) the common seal of the Board is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Board by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Board, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Board was duly affixed to the document.

Division 5—Functions and powers

12—Functions

30	The fun	ctions of the Board are—
	(a)	to undertake the care and management of the Museum; and
	(b)	to manage the premises of the Board; and
	(c)	to carry out, or promote, research into matters of scientific and historical interest; and
35	(d)	to accumulate and care for objects and specimens of scientific or historical interest; and
	(e)	to accumulate and classify data in regard to any such matters; and
40	(f)	to disseminate information of scientific or historical interest; and

5

10

15

20

		(g)		se the Minister on matters relating to scientific or cal research or collections; and
		(h)	•	y out any other functions assigned to the Board by any other Act or the Minister.
5	13—P	owers		
	(1)			in addition to any other powers conferred on it under r Act, all the powers of a natural person.
	(2)		oard may t to this .	, for example, do any 1 or more of the following Act):
10		(a)	engage	agents, consultants or other contractors;
		(b)	enter ir	nto other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
		(c)	-	e, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of , works or collections of scientific or historical
15		(d)	acquire	e, hold, deal with or dispose of—
			(i)	licences; or
			(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
			(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or
20			(iv)	any interest in such property;
		(e)		or dispose of, material that does not, in the opinion of ard, justify collection and classification;
		(f)	offer re	ewards for information—
			(i)	of scientific or historical interest; or
25			(ii)	leading to the conviction of a person for an offence against any property of the Board or under the care or control of the Board;
		(g)	-	grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;
30		(h)	carry o	n advertising and promotional activities;
		(i)	availab	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for ad liquor) at the Museum or other premises of the
35		(j)	-	e and control admission to any venue for any events vities conducted or promoted by the Board;
		(k)	-	and collect fees for admission to exhibitions, events vities conducted on special occasions or for special es;

		(1)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
5		(m)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
10		(n)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
		(0)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Board;
15		(p)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
		(q)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
20		(r)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in matters of scientific, educational or historical significance;
25		(s)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage activities of a scientific, cultural, historical or educational nature within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(t)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
		(u)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
30		(v)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
		(w)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
35	(3)		er, the Board must not, without the approval of the Treasurer, e a power referred to in subsection $(2)(u)$ or (v) .
	(4)	The Bo	ard may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.
	Divisi	on 6—	Staff
	14—S	taff	
40	(1)		bard's staff consists of Public Service employees assigned to the Board.

(2) The Board may, under an arrangement established by the Minister administering an administrative unit of the Public Service, make use of the services or staff of that administrative unit.

Division 7—Financial matters and annual reports

15—Annual budget

- (1) The Board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Board's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Board by way of a testamentary or other gift.

16—Accounts and audit

- (1) The Board must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Board, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Board and must audit the annual statements of account.

17—Annual report

- (1) The Board must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Museum for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Board for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

40

35

5

10

15

20

25

Part 3—Authorised officers

18—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
- (5) An authorised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to whom the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under this Act, produce for inspection by the person—
 - (a) in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
 - (b) in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
- (6) If a person in possession of an identity card issued to the person under this section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must immediately return the identity card to the Minister.

Maximum penalty: \$250.

19—Powers of authorised officers

- (1) If an authorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while at the Museum or other premises of the Board, has committed, is committing or is about to commit an offence against this or any other Act, the authorised officer may do any 1 or more of the following:
 - (a) require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;
 - (b) if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence;

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

		(c)	immedi	the person to leave the Museum or those premises iately and not to return for a stated period (not ing 24 hours) or not to enter the Museum or those es;
5		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement paragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ary for the purpose of removing or excluding the from the Museum or those premises;
10		(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
	(2)	An aut	norised o	fficer may also—
15		(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing a authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used at the Museum or other es of the Board in contravention of this Act; and
		(b)	premise	ch directions to persons at the Museum or other es of the Board that the authorised officer considers ary for—
20			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, at the Museum or those premises; or
25			(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the Board; and
		(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
30			(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from the Museum or other premises of the Board a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
			(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 28; and
		(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
35	(3)	accomp		fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be v such assistants as are reasonably required in the
	(4)	premis		s of this section, a reference to the <i>Museum or other</i> <i>Board</i> includes a reference to a part of the Museum es.
40	20—H	linderiı	ng etc a	uthorised officers
	(1)	A perso	on who-	-
		(a)	without officer;	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised or

	(b)	fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
	(c)	produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
5	(d)	fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
10	(e)	uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
	(f)	falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,
	is guilty	y of an offence.
	Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.
15 (2)	docume	on is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a ent as required under this Act if to do so might tend to nate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.
Part	4—M	eteorites
21—A	pplicat	ion of Part
20	other th	rt applies to a meteorite, being any naturally occurring object an a tektite, that has fallen from beyond the atmosphere to this State (whether before or after the commencement of this
22—Pi	roperty	in meteorites vests in Board
25 (1)	those su	operty in all meteorites to which this Part applies (other than ubmitted for registration by the Board before 14 August 1981 y registered) is vested in the Board.
(2)	applies	on who acquires or disposes of a meteorite to which this Part must, not later than 1 month after the acquisition or disposal, he Board in writing of that fact.
	Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.
(3)	subsect	may, after convicting a person of an offence under ion (2) in relation to a meteorite, order that the meteorite be d to the Board.
35 (4)	A perso	on must not, without the authority of the Board—
	(a)	purport to sell a meteorite that is the property of the Board; or
	(b)	have, in his or her possession, a meteorite that is the property of the Board.
40	Maxim	um penalty: \$2 500.

	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence under subsection (4)(b) for the defendant to prove that he or she was in possession of the meteorite for the purpose of delivering it to the Board.
5	(6)	This section does not derogate from any criminal liability to which a person may otherwise be subject.
	(7)	In proceedings for an offence against this section, an allegation in a complaint that a meteorite to which the proceedings relate was, on a date specified in the complaint, the property of the Board will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary.
10	23—D	outy to notify Board of newly found meteorites
		A person must, as soon as practicable after finding a meteorite to which this Part applies, notify the Board of that fact and furnish the Board with any other information that the Board may require. Maximum penalty: \$2 500.
15	? 4Р	owers of authorised officers in relation to meteorites
15	2 1 (1)	An authorised officer—
	(1)	(a) may enter any land for the purpose of searching for or
		examining a meteorite; and
20		(b) may take such steps as are reasonable in the circumstances for recovery of the meteorite.
	(2)	If an authorised officer intends to exercise powers under subsection (1) in relation to private land, the authorised officer must give reasonable notice of that intention to the owner or occupier of the land.
25	Part	5—Official insignia
	25—II	nterpretation
	(1)	In this Part—
		official insignia means—
		(a) an official title (declared under section 26); or
30		(b) a logo (declared under section 26); or
		(c) a combination of the above.
	(2)	For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—
35		(a) the goods; or
		(b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
		(c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or

		(d)	anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.
	26—0	fficial	titles and logos
	(1)	South A	Australian Museum is declared to be an official title.
5	(2)	The Mi	inister may, by notice in the Gazette—
		(a)	declare some other name under which the Board may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
10		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Board to be an official title; or
		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Board or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Board.
15	(3)	subsect otherw with th	er, the Minister must not make a declaration under tion (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or ise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting e consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of istration or protection.
20	(4)		cial title declared under this section is not required to be red or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)		inister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice his section.
	27—U	nlawfu	l use of official insignia
25	(1)		bard has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
	(2)	-	on must not, without the consent of the Board, in the course of or business—
30		(a)	use a name in which the Board has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b)	sell goods marked with official insignia; or
		(c)	use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
		Maxim	um penalty: \$20 000.
35	(3)	or desc	on must not, without the consent of the Board, assume a name ription that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
			um penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)		ent under this section—
40		(a)	may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Board); and

	(b)	may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
5	(c)	may be revoked by the Board for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
(preme Court may, on the application of the Board, grant an ion to restrain a breach of this section.
10	sectior	urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this may, on the application of the Board, order the convicted to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the
(ctions (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that e available to the Board apart from those subsections.
28-	—Seizure	etc of goods marked with official insignia
15 (1) If—	
	(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
	(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Board,
20	the aut	horised officer may seize those goods.
(2) If good	ls have been seized under this section and—
	(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 27(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
25	(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
	the per	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
30	(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
	(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
(ion for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may ught against the Board in any court of competent jurisdiction.
35 (ourt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this ay order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to own.
40	manne	bods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such r as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the id into the Consolidated Account.

Part 6—Miscellaneous

29—Gifts etc

(1) The Board may accept—

	(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
	(b)	rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
	(c)	gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
(2)	instrum granted	the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any ent by which land or any interest in or right over land is or assured to or vested in the Board or on any contract or ent executed by the Board for the purpose of disposing of any y.
30—N	linister	ial delegation
(1)	this Act (includi	nister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under t (other than this power of delegation) to any person ing a person for the time being performing particular duties or g or acting in a specified position).
(2)	A deleg	ation under this section—
	(a)	must be by instrument in writing; and
	<i>(</i> 1)	

- (b) may be absolute or conditional; and
- (c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
- (d) is revocable at will.
- (3) A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
- (4) In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.

31—Approvals by Treasurer

35

30

5

10

15

20

- (1) An approval given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
 - (a) specific or general; and
 - (b) conditional or unconditional.
- (2) An approval given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the Treasurer at any time.

32—Regulations

	(1)		vernor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or ry or expedient for the purposes of, this Act.
5	(2)	Withou may—	t limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations
		(a)	provide for the use, care and protection of the State collection and other objects, works, collections or property under the care or control of the Board; and
10		(b)	provide for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of members of the public to or from the Museum or other premises of the Board or a part of the Museum or those premises; and
		(c)	prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour at the Museum or other premises of the Board; and
15		(d)	prohibit or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), smoking or the consumption of unlawful substances at the Museum or other premises of the Board or a part of the Museum or those premises; and
20		(e)	prohibit or regulate any other conduct or activities for the purposes of—
			 (i) maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, at the Museum or other premises of the Board; and
25			(ii) protecting property under the care or control of the Board; and
		(f)	prohibit or regulate the driving, parking or standing of vehicles on premises of the Board; and
		(g)	prescribe fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the Board and provide for their payment and recovery; and
30		(h)	provide that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked or left standing in contravention of the regulations are each guilty of an offence and provide or exclude defences in relation to any such offence; and
35		(i)	provide for the management (including disposal) by, and vesting in, the Board of unclaimed property; and
		(j)	provide for the approval by the Board or an authorised officer of any act or activity that would otherwise be prohibited under the regulations; and
40		(k)	prescribe penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any regulation.
	(3)	The reg	ulations may—
		(a)	be of general or limited application; and

- (b) make different provision according to the persons, things or circumstances to which they are expressed to apply; and
- (c) provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the Board or another prescribed person or authority.
- (4) In proceedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the driving, parking or standing of vehicles—
 - (a) an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
 - (b) if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.

Part 11—Amendment of State Opera of South Australia Act 1976

85—Substitution of section 4

5

10

15

Section 4—delete the section and substitute:

20 2	—Interpretation
	(1) In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears—
	authorised officer—see Part 4;
	<i>Board</i> means the Board established as the governing authority of the State Opera under section 7;
25	<i>employing authority</i> means the person designated by proclamation as being the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;
	member means member of the Board;
	<i>occupy</i> , in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;
30	official insignia—see Part 5;
	<i>premises of the State Opera</i> means premises owned or occupied by the State Opera;
35	<i>promote</i> , in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager;
	<i>State Opera</i> means the State Opera of South Australia established under section 3.

- (2) A proclamation made for the purposes of the definition of *employing authority*
 - (a) may apply by reference to a specified person, or by reference to the person for the time being holding or acting in a specified office or position; and
 - (b) may, from time to time as the Governor thinks fit, be varied or substituted by a new proclamation.

86—Substitution of Part 2

Part 2—delete the Part and substitute:

5

Part 2—State Opera of South Australia

Division 1—Establishment of State Opera

3—Establishment of State Opera

- (1) The State Opera of South Australia is established.
- (2) The State Opera—
 - (a) is a body corporate; and
 - (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
 - (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
 - (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
 - (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

Division 2—Functions and powers of State Opera

4—Functions

The functions of the State Opera are-

- (a) to present, produce, manage and conduct theatrical and operatic performances of any kind as may in its opinion tend to promote the art of the opera and related theatrical arts; and
- (b) to promote the scoring and writing of operas and other theatrical works for operatic or theatrical performance; and
- (c) to promote public interest and participation in the art of the opera and related theatrical arts; and
- (d) to establish and conduct schools, courses, lectures, seminars and discussions on the art of the opera and related theatrical arts; and

15

20

25

30

		(e)	product	note the training of persons concerned in the tion, presentation or performance of operatic or other theatrical presentations; and
5		(f)	•	y out any other functions assigned to the State Opera his or any other Act or by the Minister.
	5—Po	wers		
	(1)		-	has, in addition to any other powers conferred on it y other Act, all the powers of a natural person.
10	(2)		ate Opera t to this A	a may, for example, do any 1 or more of the following Act):
		(a)	engage	agents, consultants or other contractors;
15		(b)	singers choreos relation	to contracts or agreements with artists, actors, , entertainers, performers, writers, composers, graphers, designers, directors and other persons in to any operatic or other related theatrical activity, or such persons;
		(c)	enter in	to other contracts, agreements or arrangements;
		(d)	-	or build any theatre or acquire and install any or equipment in any theatre;
20		(e)	-	, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of , works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural ;
		(f)	acquire	, hold, deal with or dispose of—
			(i)	licences; or
25			(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or
			(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or
			(iv)	any interest in such property;
30		(g)	product	inancially or otherwise in the presentation, tion, management or conduct of any theatrical or c production in the State;
		(h)		grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;
		(i)	carry of	n advertising and promotional activities;
35		(j)	availab food an	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for ad liquor) at a theatre, theatre complex or other es of the State Opera;
40		(k)	or activ	e and control admission to any venue for any events vities conducted or promoted by the State Opera, and and collect fees for admission to any such venue;

		(1)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the State Opera;
5		(m)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the State Opera;
10		(n)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the State Opera;
		(0)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the State Opera;
15		(p)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
		(q)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
20		(r)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in operatic or related theatrical arts or the promotion of opera or related theatrical arts;
25		(s)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(t)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
30		(u)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
		(v)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
35		(w)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
	(3)		er, the State Opera must not, without the approval of the rer, exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(u) or (v).
	(4)	The Sta State.	te Opera may exercise its powers within or outside of the
40	6—Sp	ecial po	ower to acquire land compulsorily
	(1)		te Opera may, with the consent of the Minister, compulsorily land for the purposes of this Act.

(2) The *Land Acquisition Act 1969* applies to the acquisition of land under this section.

Part 3—Management of State Opera

Division 1—Establishment of Board

7—Establishment of Board

- (1) There will be a Board to act as the governing authority of the State Opera.
- (2) The functions and powers of the State Opera may be performed and exercised by the Board and decisions made by the Board are decisions of the State Opera.

Division 2—Membership, proceedings, etc

8—Composition of Board

- (1) The Board will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the Governor, of whom—
 - (a) 1 will be selected from a panel of 3 persons nominated by the *Friends of State Opera of South Australia Incorporated*; and
 - (b) the remainder will be nominated by the Minister.
- (2) At least 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.
- (3) The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.
- (4) The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member (being a person nominated by the body or person who nominated the member) and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.

9—Conditions of membership

- (1) A member will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on conditions determined by the Governor and specified in the instrument of appointment.
- (2) A member will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be eligible for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person cannot serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).
- (3) The Governor may remove a member from office—
 - (a) for misconduct; or
 - (b) for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or
 - (c) for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or

5

10

15

20

25

		(d)	if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Board's affairs or the Board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.
5	(4)	The off	ice of a member becomes vacant if the member—
		(a)	dies; or
		(b)	completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or
		(c)	resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
10		(d)	is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
		(e)	ceases to satisfy the qualification by virtue of which the member was eligible for appointment to the Board; or
		(f)	is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Board from 3 consecutive meetings of the Board; or
15		(g)	is removed from office under subsection (3).
	(5)		office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be ed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
	(6)	A mem the Gov	ber is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by vernor.
20	10—P	roceedi	ngs
	(1)	-	um of the Board consists of half of the total number of its rs (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.
	(1)(2)	member In the a	
25		membe In the a membe A decis	rs (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1. bsence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a
25	(2)	member In the a member A deciss meeting Each m question	rs (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1. bsence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a r chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside. ion carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a
25 30	(2) (3)	membe In the a membe A decis meeting Each m question presidin A confe membe	rs (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1. bsence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a r chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside. ion carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a g is a decision of the Board. ember present at a meeting of the Board has 1 vote on any n arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member
	(2)(3)(4)	member In the a member A deciss meeting Each m question presidin A confer member meeting	rs (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1. bsence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a r chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside. ion carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a g is a decision of the Board. member present at a meeting of the Board has 1 vote on any n arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member ng at the meeting may exercise a casting vote. erence by telephone or other electronic means between rs will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a

	(6)	proposed resolution of the Board be oard despite the fact that it is not vote oard if—	
5		(a) notice of the proposed resolut accordance with procedures d	-
		(b) a majority of the members exp proposed resolution by letter, communication setting out the	fax or other written
	(7)	he Board must meet at least 6 times i	n each year.
10	(8)	he Board must have accurate minutes	kept of its proceedings.
	(9)	ubject to this Act, the Board may dete	ermine its own procedures.
	(10)	abject to the directions of the Board a pplies to a committee of the Board in	
	11—V	dity of acts	
15		n act or proceeding of the Board or a valid by reason only of a vacancy in e appointment of a member.	
	12—N	isterial control	
20	(1)	abject to subsection (2), the Board is ad direction of the Minister.	subject to the general control
	(2)	o Ministerial direction can be given-	_
		(a) as to the artistic nature or cont	ent of—
		(i) objects, works or coll the State Opera; or	ections held or promoted by
25		(ii) performances or othe or promoted by the S	r events or activities conducted tate Opera; or
		(b) as to the manner in which the testamentary or other gift; or	Board is to deal with a
30		(c) as to any advice or recommen is required to make to the Min	dation that the Board makes or ister.
	Divisi	3—Committees and delegat	ion
	13—C	nmittees	
	(1)	he Board may establish such commit mmittees or subcommittees) as the H	
35	(2)	he membership and conditions of me determined by the Board and may, I	-

include, members of the Board.

	(3)	The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
		(a) as determined by the Board; and
5		(b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.
	14—D	Delegation
10	(1)	The Board may delegate a function or power of the Board under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
	(2)	A delegation under this section—
		(a) must be by instrument in writing; and
		(b) may be absolute or conditional; and
15		(c) does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d) is revocable at will.
	(3)	A function or power delegated under this section may, if the instrument of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
20	(4)	A delegate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in which the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest.
		Maximum penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
25	(5)	It is a defence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to prove that the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, unaware of his or her interest in the matter.
30	(6)	In legal proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly signed by the Board containing particulars of a delegation under this section, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as proof that the delegation was made in accordance with the particulars.
	Divisi	on 4—Conflict of interest under Public Sector
	(Honesty and Accountability) Act
		Conflict of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act
35		A member of the Board will not be taken to have a direct or indirect interest in a matter for the purposes of the <i>Public Sector (Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995</i> by reason only of the fact that the member has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with those engaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a
40		substantial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts industry.

Division 5—Common seal and execution of documents

16—Common seal and execution of documents

- (1) The common seal of the State Opera must not be affixed to a document except in pursuance of a decision of the Board and the fixing of the seal must be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Board.
- (2) The Board may, by instrument under the common seal of the State Opera, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by name or by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the State Opera subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the instrument of authority.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2), the Board may authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly on behalf of the State Opera.
- (4) A document is duly executed by the State Opera if—
 - (a) the common seal of the State Opera is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
 - (b) the document is signed on behalf of the State Opera by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the State Opera, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the State Opera was duly affixed to the document.

Division 6—Financial matters and annual reports

17—Annual budget

- (1) The Board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the State Opera's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the State Opera by way of a testamentary or other gift.

5

10

15

20

25

30

18—Accounts and audit

- (1) The Board must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the State Opera, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the State Opera and must audit the annual statements of account.

19—Annual report

- (1) The Board must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the State Opera for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the State Opera for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

87—Substitution of heading to Part 3

Heading to Part 3—delete the heading and substitute:

Division 7—Staffing arrangements

25 88—Repeal of section 22

Section 22-delete the section

89—Substitution of Parts 4 and 5

Parts 4 and 5—delete the Parts and substitute:

Part 4—Authorised officers

30

22—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.

10

5

20

5	conditi (and th this Ac	pointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to ons or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment e exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under et is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified or her instrument of appointment).
(4		horised officer other than a police officer must be issued with ntity card—
	(a)	containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
10	(b)	stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
	(c)	stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.
15	whom	horised officer must, at the request of a person in relation to the authorised officer intends to exercise any powers under et, produce for inspection by the person—
	(a)	in the case of an authorised officer appointed under subsection (1)—his or her identity card; and
20	(b)	in the case of an authorised officer who is a police officer and is not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
(6	under t	rson in possession of an identity card issued to the person his section ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must iately return the identity card to the Minister.
	Maxim	num penalty: \$250.
25 23 -	-Powers	of authorised officers
(1	premis about t	athorised officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on es of the State Opera, has committed, is committing or is o commit an offence against this or any other Act, the used officer may do any 1 or more of the following:
30	(a)	require the person to state his or her full name and usual place of residence;
35	(b)	if the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the name or place of residence stated is false—require the person to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual place of residence;
	(c)	require the person to leave those premises immediately and not to return for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or not to enter those premises;
40	(d)	if the person refuses or fails to comply with a requirement under paragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of removing or excluding the person from those premises;

	(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the y of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
(2)	An auth	horised o	fficer may also—
5	(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing a authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used on premises of the State Opera ravention of this Act; and
	(b)	•	ch directions to persons on premises of the State that the authorised officer considers necessary for—
10		(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, on those premises; or
15		(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control of the State Opera; and
	(c)	use suc	h force as may reasonably be required—
20		(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from premises of the State Opera a person who refuses or fails to comply with a requirement or direction under this section; or
		(ii)	for the purposes of seizing goods under section 28; and
	(d)	exercis	e any other prescribed power.
25 (3)	accomp		fficer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be v such assistants as are reasonably required in the
(4)			s of this section, a reference to <i>premises of the State</i> a reference to a part of those premises.
24—	Hinderin	ng etc a	uthorised officers
30 (1)	A perso	on who—	_
	(a)	without officer;	t reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised or
	(b)		answer a question put by an authorised officer to the his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
35	(c)	-	es a document that he or she knows, or ought to is false or misleading in a material particular; or
	(d)		thout reasonable excuse to comply with a ment or direction of an authorised officer under this
40	(e)		usive, threatening or insulting language to an sed officer or a person assisting an authorised officer;

falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an (f) authorised officer,

is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: \$2 500.

(2) A person is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a document as required under this Act if to do so might tend to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.

Part 5—Official insignia

- -

	25—II	nterpre	tation
10	(1)	In this I	Part—
		official	<i>insignia</i> means—
		(a)	an official title (declared under section 26); or
		(b)	a logo (declared under section 26); or
		(c)	a combination of the above.
15	(2)	official	purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or orated in or with—
		(a)	the goods; or
20		(b)	any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
		(c)	anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
		(d)	anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.
25	26— C	Official 1	titles and logos
	(1)	State O	pera of South Australia is declared to be an official title.
	(2)	The Mi	nister may, by notice in the Gazette—
30		(a)	declare some other name under which the State Opera may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
		(b)	declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the State Opera to be an official title; or
35		(c)	declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the State Opera or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the State Opera.

5	(3)	However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
	(4)	An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.
	(5)	The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice under this section.
10	27—U	nlawful use of official insignia
	(1)	The State Opera has a proprietary interest in all official insignia.
	(2)	A person must not, without the consent of the State Opera, in the course of a trade or business—
15		 (a) use a name in which the State Opera has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
		(b) sell goods marked with official insignia; or
		(c) use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.
20		Maximum penalty: \$20 000.
	(3)	A person must not, without the consent of the State Opera, assume a name or description that consists of, or includes, official insignia.
		Maximum penalty: \$20 000.
	(4)	A consent under this section—
25		(a) may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the State Opera); and
		(b) may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
30		(c) may be revoked by the State Opera for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
	(5)	The Supreme Court may, on the application of the State Opera, grant an injunction to restrain a breach of this section.
35	(6)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this section may, on the application of the State Opera, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the State Opera.
	(7)	Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that may be available to the State Opera apart from those subsections.

28-Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia

	(1)	If—	
		(a)	goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
5		(b)	an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the State Opera,
		the aut	horised officer may seize those goods.
	(2)	If good	s have been seized under this section and—
10		(a)	proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section $27(2)$ in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
		(b)	after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
15		the per	son from whom they were seized is entitled to recover—
		(c)	the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
20		(d)	compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
	(3)		on for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may aght against the State Opera in any court of competent ction.
25	(4)		urt by which a person is convicted of an offence against this y order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to own.
	(5)	manner	oods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the id into the Consolidated Account.
30	Part	6—M	iscellaneous
	29— G	lifts etc	
	(1)		ate Opera may accept—
35		(a)	grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
		(b)	rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
		(c)	gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.

;	instrumer granted o or instrur	Despite the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the State Opera or on any contract or instrument executed by the State Opera for the purpose of disposing of any property.				
30-	–Ministeria	l delegation				
(this Act ((includin	The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).				
(2	2) A delegat	tion under this section—				
	(a) 1	nust be by instrument in writing; and				
	(b) 1	nay be absolute or conditional; and				
5		loes not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a natter; and				
	(d) i	s revocable at will.				
(.		on or power delegated under this section may, if the nt of delegation so provides, be further delegated.				
)	signed by this section	roceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly the Minister containing particulars of a delegation under on, will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted that the delegation was made in accordance with the rs.				
31-	-Approvals	by Treasurer				
5 (l) An appro	val given by the Treasurer under this Act may be—				
	(a) s	specific or general; and				
	(b) a	conditional or unconditional.				
()	· • • •	val given by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the at any time.				
) 32-	-Regulation	18				
(ernor may make such regulations as are contemplated by, or vor expedient for the purposes of, this Act.				
(2	2) Without may—	limiting the generality of subsection (1), the regulations				
5		provide for matters relating to subscribers to the State Opera ncluding—				
		(i) the manner in which a person may become, and the conditions under which he or she may remain, a subscriber; and				

		(ii)	subscription or other fees to be paid by subscribers; and	
		(iii)	rights and obligations of subscribers; and	
5	(b)	collecti	for the use, care and protection of objects, works, ons or any other property under the care or control of e Opera; and	
	(c)	membe	for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of rs of the public to or from premises of the State or a part of those premises; and	
10	(d)	prohibit disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of the State Opera; and		
	(e)	smokin	t or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), g or the consumption of unlawful substances on es of the State Opera or a part of those premises; and	
15	(f)	prohibit purpose	t or regulate any other conduct or activities for the es of—	
		(i)	maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, on premises of the State Opera; and	
20		(ii)	protecting property under the care or control of the State Opera; and	
	(g)	-	t or regulate the driving, parking or standing of s on premises of the State Opera; and	
25	(h)	-	be fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the pera and provide for their payment and recovery; and	
	(i)	or left s guilty o	that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked tanding in contravention of the regulations are each f an offence and provide or exclude defences in to any such offence; and	
30	(j)		for the management (including disposal) by, and in, the State Opera of unclaimed property; and	
	(k)	officer	for the approval by the Board or an authorised of any act or activity that would otherwise be ted under the regulations; and	
35	(1)	prescrit regulati	be penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any on.	
(3)	The reg	gulations	may—	
	(a)	be of ge	eneral or limited application; and	
40	(b)		ifferent provision according to the persons, things or stances to which they are expressed to apply; and	

- (c) provide that any matter or thing is to be determined, dispensed with, regulated or prohibited according to the discretion of the Minister, the Board or another prescribed person or authority.
- (4) In proceedings for an offence against a regulation dealing with the driving, parking or standing of vehicles—
 - (a) an allegation in a complaint that a person named in the complaint was the owner of a specified vehicle on a specified day will be taken to be proved in the absence of proof to the contrary; and
 - (b) if it is proved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a regulation, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of the vehicle.

15 Part 12—Amendment of State Theatre Company of South Australia Act 1972

90—Substitution of section 4

Section 4—delete the section and substitute:

2—Interpretation

20	(1)	In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears—
		authorised officer—see Part 4;
		<i>Board</i> means the Board established as the governing authority of the Company under section 6;
25		<i>Company</i> means the <i>State Theatre Company of South Australia</i> established under section 3;
		<i>employing authority</i> means the person designated by proclamation as being the employing authority for the purposes of this definition;
		member means member of the Board;
30		<i>occupy</i> , in relation to premises, means have, or be entitled to, possession or control of the premises;
		official insignia—see Part 5;
		<i>premises of the Company</i> means premises owned or occupied by the Company;
35		<i>promote</i> , in relation to an event or activity, includes organise, commission, fund, support, market, advertise or act as project manager.

10

5

- (2) A proclamation made for the purposes of the definition of *employing authority*
 - (a) may apply by reference to a specified person, or by reference to the person for the time being holding or acting in a specified office or position; and
 - (b) may, from time to time as the Governor thinks fit, be varied or substituted by a new proclamation.

91—Substitution of Part 2

Part 2—delete the Part and substitute:

10

15

20

5

Part 2—State Theatre Company of South Australia

Division 1—Establishment of Company

3—Establishment of Company

- (1) The State Theatre Company of South Australia is established.
- (2) The Company—

- (b) has perpetual succession and a common seal; and
- (c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
- (d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
- (e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

Division 2—Functions and powers of Company

4—Functions

The functions of the Company are—

25	(a)	to present, produce, manage and conduct theatrical performances, operas, plays, dramas, ballets and entertainments of any kind as may in its opinion tend to promote the art of theatre; and
30	(b)	to promote the writing of plays or dramas, the scoring and writing of operas, the scoring, writing and choreography of ballets and other works for theatrical performance; and
	(c)	to promote public interest and participation in the art of the theatre; and
35	(d)	to establish and maintain a collection of objects of public interest relating to the past and present practice of the performing arts in this State; and

		(e)		lish and conduct schools, courses, lectures, seminars cussions on the art of the theatre; and	
5		(f)	product	note the training of persons concerned in the tion, presentation or performance of theatrical ations; and	
		(g)	•	y out any other functions assigned to the Company his or any other Act or by the Minister.	
5-	-Po	wers			
10	(1)		e Company has, in addition to any other powers conferred o der this or any other Act, all the powers of a natural person.		
	(2)		The Company may, for example, do any 1 or more of the follow (subject to this Act):		
		(a)	engage	agents, consultants or other contractors;	
15		(b)	entertai choreog	to contracts or agreements with artists, actors, ners, performers, writers, composers, graphers, designers, directors and other persons in to any theatrical presentation, or employ such s;	
		(c)	enter in	to other contracts, agreements or arrangements;	
20		(d)	acquire	and install any fittings or equipment in any theatre;	
		(e)	-	, hold, take on hire, lend, exchange or dispose of , works or collections of artistic, historical or cultural ;	
		(f)	acquire	, hold, deal with or dispose of—	
25			(i)	licences; or	
			(ii)	intellectual property (including patents and copyright); or	
			(iii)	any other property (whether real or personal); or	
			(iv)	any interest in such property;	
30		(g)		nancially or otherwise in the presentation, tion, management or conduct of any art of the theatre tate;	
		(h)		grants or obtain financial sponsorship from any or body;	
35		(i)	carry of	n advertising and promotional activities;	
		(j)	availab food an	t events and establish, operate, manage or make le venues and other facilities (including facilities for d liquor) at a theatre, theatre complex or other es of the Company;	

		(k)	regulate and control admission to any venue for any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company, and charge and collect fees for admission to any such venue;
5		(1)	grant for fee or other consideration advertising or sponsorship rights or other rights, licences or concessions in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company;
10		(m)	publish or produce books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other information or things relating to events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company;
		(n)	sell or supply food and drink (including liquor), books, programs, brochures, films, souvenirs and other things in connection with events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company;
15		(0)	grant or dispose of rights to televise, broadcast or record any events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company;
		(p)	restrict, control and make charges for the use of official insignia;
20		(q)	take out policies of insurance in its own right or on behalf of the State;
		(r)	participate (whether as a member or otherwise) in, or otherwise be involved in the activities of, national or international organisations or associations involved in the performing arts or the promotion of the performing arts;
25		(s)	give or contribute towards prizes in competitions designed to encourage artistic or cultural or performing arts activity within the State or make grants and give other assistance for such purposes;
		(t)	enter into any partnership or joint venture arrangement;
30		(u)	form, or acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of shares or other interests in, or securities issued by, bodies corporate, whether within or outside of the State;
		(v)	borrow money and obtain other forms of financial accommodation;
35		(w)	act as trustee on behalf of another person in connection with the performance of its functions under this Act.
	(3)		er, the Company must not, without the approval of the rer, exercise a power referred to in subsection (2)(u) or (v).
	(4)	The Co	mpany may exercise its powers within or outside of the State.

Part	3—M	anagement of Company				
Divisi	ion 1—	Management of Company				
6—Es	tablish	ment of Board				
(1)	There v Compa	vill be a Board to act as the governing authority of the ny.				
(2)	exercis	The functions and powers of the Company may be performed and exercised by the Board and decisions made by the Board are decisions of the Company.				
Divisi	ion 2—	Membership, proceedings etc				
7—Co	omposit	ion of Board				
(1)	-	ard will consist of not more than 8 members appointed by the				
(2)	At least	t 2 members must be women and at least 2 must be men.				
(3)		The Governor will appoint 1 of the members to be the presiding member.				
(4)	The Governor may appoint a suitable person to be a deputy of a member and the deputy may perform or exercise the functions and powers of the member in the member's absence.					
8—Co	ondition	s of membership				
(1)	conditi	ber will be appointed for a term not exceeding 3 years and on ons determined by the Governor and specified in the tent of appointment.				
(2)	eligible	ber will, at the expiration of a term of appointment, be for reappointment (subject to the qualification that a person serve as a member for more than 9 consecutive years).				
(3)	The Go	overnor may remove a member from office—				
	(a)	for misconduct; or				
	(b)	for failure or incapacity to carry out the duties of his or her office satisfactorily; or				
	(c)	for contravention of a condition of his or her appointment; or				
	(d)	if serious irregularities have occurred in the conduct of the Board's affairs or the Board has failed to carry out its functions satisfactorily and its membership should, in the opinion of the Governor, be reconstituted for that reason.				
(4)	The off	ice of a member becomes vacant if the member—				
	(a)	dies; or				

(b)

completes a term of office and is not reappointed; or

5

10

15

20

25

30

		(c) resigns by written notice to the Minister; or
		(d) is convicted of an indictable offence or sentenced to imprisonment for an offence; or
5		(e) is absent without leave of the presiding member of the Board from 3 consecutive meetings of the Board; or
		(f) is removed from office under subsection (3).
	(5)	On the office of a member becoming vacant, a person may be appointed in accordance with this Division to the vacant office.
10	(6)	A member is entitled to fees, allowances and expenses determined by the Governor.
	9—Pr	oceedings
	(1)	A quorum of the Board consists of half of the total number of its members (ignoring any fraction resulting from the division) plus 1.
15	(2)	In the absence of the presiding member at a meeting of the Board, a member chosen by the members present at the meeting will preside.
	(3)	A decision carried by a majority of the votes cast by members at a meeting is a decision of the Board.
20	(4)	Each member present at a meeting of the Board has 1 vote on any question arising for decision and, if the votes are equal, the member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
	(5)	A conference by telephone or other electronic means between members will, for the purposes of this section, be taken to be a meeting of the Board at which the participating members are present if—
25		(a) notice of the conference is given to all members in the manner determined by the Board for the purpose; and
		 (b) each participating member is capable of communicating with every other participating member during the conference.
30	(6)	A proposed resolution of the Board becomes a valid decision of the Board despite the fact that it is not voted on at a meeting of the Board if—
		(a) notice of the proposed resolution is given to all members in accordance with procedures determined by the Board; and
35		 (b) a majority of the members expresses concurrence in the proposed resolution by letter, fax or other written communication setting out the terms of the resolution.
	(7)	The Board must meet at least 6 times in each year.
	(8)	The Board must have accurate minutes kept of its proceedings.
40	(9)	Subject to this Act, the Board may determine its own procedures.

(10) Subject to the directions of the Board and section 12, this section applies to a committee of the Board in the same way as to the Board.

10-Validity of acts

An act or proceeding of the Board or a committee of the Board is not invalid by reason only of a vacancy in its membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

11—Ministerial control

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Board is subject to the general control and direction of the Minister.
- (2) No Ministerial direction can be given—
 - (a) as to the artistic nature or content of—
 - (i) objects, works or collections held or promoted by the Company; or
 - (ii) performances or other events or activities conducted or promoted by the Company; or
 - (b) as to the manner in which the Board is to deal with a testamentary or other gift; or
 - (c) as to any advice or recommendation that the Board makes or is required to make to the Minister.

Division 3—Committees and delegation

12—Committees

- (1) The Board may establish such committees (including advisory committees or subcommittees) as the Board thinks fit.
- (2) The membership and conditions of membership of a committee will be determined by the Board and may, but need not, consist of, or include, members of the Board.
- (3) The procedures to be observed in relation to the conduct of the business of a committee will be—
 - (a) as determined by the Board; and
 - (b) insofar as a procedure is not determined under paragraph (a)—as determined by the committee.

13—Delegation

- (1) The Board may delegate a function or power of the Board under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person or committee or other body (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).
- (2) A delegation under this section—
 - (a) must be by instrument in writing; and

15

10

5

20

25

30

		(b)	may be absolute or conditional; and
		(c)	does not derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a matter; and
		(d)	is revocable at will.
5	(3)		tion or power delegated under this section may, if the tent of delegation so provides, be further delegated.
	(4)	-	gate must not act pursuant to the delegation in any matter in the delegate has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal
10		Maxim	um penalty: \$10 000 or imprisonment for 2 years.
	(5)	prove the	efence to a charge of an offence against subsection (4) to hat the defendant was, at the time of the alleged offence, e of his or her interest in the matter.
15	(6)	signed section	l proceedings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly by the Board containing particulars of a delegation under this , will, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted as nat the delegation was made in accordance with the lars.
20			Conflict of interest under Public Sector ty and Accountability) Act
			of interest under Public Sector (Honesty and tability) Act
25		interest and Acc member those en	ber of the Board will not be taken to have a direct or indirect in a matter for the purposes of the <i>Public Sector (Honesty</i> <i>countability)</i> Act 1995 by reason only of the fact that the r has an interest in a matter that is shared in common with ngaged in or associated with the arts industry generally, or a tial section of those engaged in or associated with the arts y.
30	Divisi	on 5—	Common seal and execution of documents
			n seal and execution of documents
	(1)		mmon seal of the Company must not be affixed to a document
	(1)	except	in pursuance of a decision of the Board and the fixing of the ist be attested by the signatures of 2 members of the Board.
35	(2)	Compa name o Board s	ard may, by instrument under the common seal of the ny, authorise a person or persons (whether nominated by r by office or title) to execute documents on behalf of the subject to conditions and limitations (if any) specified in the nent of authority.
40	(3)		It limiting subsection (2), the Board may authorise 2 or more s to execute documents jointly on behalf of the Company.

(4)	A document i	s duly	v executed by	y the	Company if-	
< · /						

- (a) the common seal of the Company is affixed to the document in accordance with this section; or
- (b) the document is signed on behalf of the Company by a person or persons in accordance with authority conferred under this section.
- (5) If an apparently genuine document purports to bear the common seal of the Company, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that the common seal of the Company was duly affixed to the document.

Division 6—Financial matters and annual reports

16—Annual budget

- (1) The Board must, from time to time, prepare and submit to the Minister a budget for the next financial year or for some other period determined by the Minister.
- (2) The budget must set out estimates of the Company's receipts and expenditures for the period to which the budget relates.
- (3) The budget must conform with any requirements of the Minister as to its form and the matters to be addressed by the budget.
- (4) The Minister may approve a budget submitted under this section with or without modification.
- (5) Subject to subsection (6), the Board must not, without the consent of the Minister, make an expenditure that is not provided for by a budget that has been approved by the Minister under this section.
- (6) The Board is not required to have the approval of the Minister with respect to the expenditure of money received by the Company by way of a testamentary or other gift.

17—Accounts and audit

- (1) The Board must cause proper accounting records to be kept in relation to the financial affairs of the Company, and must have annual statements of account prepared in respect of each financial year.
- (2) The accounting records and the statements of account must comply with—
 - (a) any instructions of the Treasurer under section 41 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1987*; and
 - (b) any further requirements imposed by the Auditor-General.
- (3) The Auditor-General may at any time audit the accounts of the Company and must audit the annual statements of account.

10

5

15

20

25

30

18—Annual report

- (1) The Board must, on or before 30 September in every year, forward to the Minister a report on the work and operations of the Company for the preceding financial year.
- (2) The report must contain the audited statements of account of the Company for the preceding financial year.
- (3) The Minister must, within 12 sitting days after receiving a report under this section, have copies of the report laid before both Houses of Parliament.

10 92—Substitution of heading to Part 3

Heading to Part 3—delete the heading and substitute:

Division 7—Staffing arrangements

93—Repeal of section 22

Section 22—delete the section

15 94—Repeal of Parts 5 and 6

Parts 5 and 6—delete the Parts and substitute:

Part 4—Authorised officers

22—Appointment of authorised officers

- (1) The Minister may appoint persons to be authorised officers for the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Each police officer is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act.
- (3) An appointment under subsection (1) may be made subject to conditions or limitations specified in the instrument of appointment (and the exercise by an authorised officer of powers conferred under this Act is subject to the conditions and limitations (if any) specified in his or her instrument of appointment).
- (4) An authorised officer other than a police officer must be issued with an identity card—
 - (a) containing the person's name and a photograph of the person; and
 - (b) stating that the person is an authorised officer for the purposes of this Act; and
 - (c) stating any conditions or limitations on the authorised officer's authority.

20

5

30

35

	(5)	whom t	he autho	fficer must, at the request of a person in relation to brised officer intends to exercise any powers under the for inspection by the person—
5		(a)		ase of an authorised officer appointed under ion (1)—his or her identity card; and
		(b)		ase of an authorised officer who is a police officer not in uniform—his or her certificate of authority.
10	(6)	under th	nis sectio	ossession of an identity card issued to the person on ceases to be an authorised officer, the person must urn the identity card to the Minister.
		Maxim	ım pena	lty: \$250.
	23—P	owers o	f autho	orised officers
15	(1)	premise to comr	s of the nit an of	officer reasonably suspects that a person, while on Company, has committed, is committing or is about fence against this or any other Act, the authorised any 1 or more of the following:
		(a)	-	the person to state his or her full name and usual f residence;
20		(b)	the nan person	uthorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that ne or place of residence stated is false—require the to produce evidence of his or her full name or usual f residence;
25		(c)	not to r	the person to leave those premises immediately and eturn for a stated period (not exceeding 24 hours) or enter those premises;
		(d)	under p necessa	erson refuses or fails to comply with a requirement paragraph (c)—use such force as is reasonably ary for the purpose of removing or excluding the from those premises;
30		(e)		he person to be detained and handed over into the of a police officer as soon as reasonably practicable.
	(2)	An auth	orised o	fficer may also—
35		(a)	that the being, o	a person to surrender any object, substance or thing a authorised officer reasonably suspects has been, is or is about to be, used on premises of the Company in rention of this Act; and
		(b)	-	ch directions to persons on premises of the Company authorised officer considers necessary for—
40			(i)	the maintenance of good order, the prevention of interference with events or other activities, or the safe and efficient regulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, on those premises; or

(ii)	the protection of property under the care or control
	of the Company; and

(c) use such force as may reasonably be required—

(i)	for the purpose of removing or excluding from
	premises of the Company a person who refuses or
	fails to comply with a requirement or direction
	under this section; or

- (ii) for the purposes of seizing goods under section 28; and
- (d) exercise any other prescribed power.
- (3) An authorised officer may, in exercising powers under this Act, be accompanied by such assistants as are reasonably required in the circumstances.
- (4) For the purposes of this section, a reference to *premises of the Company* includes a reference to a part of those premises.

24—Hindering etc authorised officers

- (1) A person who—
 - (a) without reasonable excuse hinders or obstructs an authorised officer; or
 - (b) fails to answer a question put by an authorised officer to the best of his or her knowledge, information or belief; or
 - (c) produces a document that he or she knows, or ought to know, is false or misleading in a material particular; or
 - (d) fails without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement or direction of an authorised officer under this Act; or
 - (e) uses abusive, threatening or insulting language to an authorised officer or a person assisting an authorised officer; or
 - (f) falsely represents, by words or conduct, that he or she is an authorised officer,

is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: \$2 500.

(2) A person is not obliged to answer a question or to produce a document as required under this Act if to do so might tend to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.

5

10

15

20

25

30

Part 5—Official insignia

25—Interpretation

(1) In this Part—

official insignia means-

- (a) an official title (declared under section 26); or
- (b) a logo (declared under section 26); or
- (c) a combination of the above.
- (2) For the purposes of this Part, goods will be taken to be marked with official insignia if the insignia is affixed or annexed to, marked on, or incorporated in or with—
 - (a) the goods; or
 - (b) any covering or container in which the goods are wholly or partly enclosed; or
 - (c) anything placed in or attached to any such covering or container; or
 - (d) anything that is attached to the goods or around which the goods are wrapped or wound.

26—Official titles and logos

- (1) The following are declared to be official titles:
 - (a) State Theatre Company of South Australia;
 - (b) State Theatre Company SA.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette—
 - (a) declare some other name under which the Company may conduct its operations or part of its operations to be an official title; or
 - (b) declare a name or a title of an event or activity conducted or promoted by the Company to be an official title; or
 - (c) declare a logo (being a design, the copyright of which is vested in the Crown in right of the State) to be a logo in respect of the Company or a particular event or activity conducted or promoted by the Company.
- (3) However, the Minister must not make a declaration under subsection (2) in relation to a name or title that is registered or otherwise protected under another Act unless the Minister is acting with the consent or agreement of the person who has the benefit of the registration or protection.
- (4) An official title declared under this section is not required to be registered or otherwise protected under any other Act.

10

15

5

20

25

30

(5)	The Minister may, by notice in the Gazette, vary or revoke a notice
	under this section.

27—Unlawful use of official insignia

11	. r		1			• .	•	•	11	CC	• 1		•
(1)) ·	The Com	nanv r	າລເລາ	nron	rietarv	interest	1n	all	offici	เลโ	1051	on1a
11	/	ine com	puny I	ius u	prop	1 i Ciul y	merest		un	onite	iui	mor	Sma.

- (2) A person must not, without the consent of the Company, in the course of a trade or business—
 - (a) use a name in which the Company has a proprietary interest under this section for the purpose of promoting the sale of services or the provision of any benefits; or
 - (b) sell goods marked with official insignia; or
 - (c) use official insignia for the purpose of promoting the sale of goods or services.

Maximum penalty: \$20 000.

 (3) A person must not, without the consent of the Company, assume a name or description that consists of, or includes, official insignia. Maximum penalty: \$20 000.

Francisco Ponency : +20 0000

- (4) A consent under this section—
 - (a) may be given with or without conditions (including conditions requiring payment to the Company); and
 - (b) may be given generally by notice in the Gazette or by notice in writing addressed to an applicant for the consent; and
 - (c) may be revoked by the Company for breach of a condition by notice in writing given personally or by post to a person who has the benefit of the consent.
- (5) The Supreme Court may, on the application of the Company, grant an injunction to restrain a breach of this section.
- (6) The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this section may, on the application of the Company, order the convicted person to pay compensation of an amount fixed by the court to the Company.
- (7) Subsections (5) and (6) do not derogate from any civil remedy that may be available to the Company apart from those subsections.

28—Seizure etc of goods marked with official insignia

- (a) goods apparently intended for a commercial purpose are marked with official insignia; and
- (b) an authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the use of the insignia has not been authorised by the Company,

the authorised officer may seize those goods.

5

10

15

20

25

30

	(2)	If goods have been seized under this section and—
		 (a) proceedings are not instituted for an offence against section 27(2) in relation to the goods within 3 months of their seizure; or
5		(b) after proceedings have been instituted and completed, the defendant is not convicted,
		the person from whom they were seized is entitled to recover-
10		(c) the goods or, if they have been destroyed, compensation equal to the market value of the goods at the time of their seizure; and
		(d) compensation for any loss suffered by reason of the seizure of the goods.
15	(3)	An action for the payment of compensation under subsection (2) may be brought against the Company in any court of competent jurisdiction.
	(4)	The court by which a person is convicted of an offence against this Act may order that goods to which the offence relates be forfeited to the Crown.
20	(5)	Any goods forfeited to the Crown must be disposed of in such manner as the Minister may direct and, if sold, the proceeds of the sale paid into the Consolidated Account.
	Part	6—Miscellaneous
	29— G	lifts etc
	(1)	The Company may accept—
25		 (a) grants, conveyances, transfers and leases of land from the Crown, an instrumentality of the Crown or any other person or body; and
		(b) rights to the use, control, management or occupation of any land; and
30		(c) gifts of personal property of any kind to be used or applied by it for the purposes of this Act.
35	(2)	Despite the <i>Stamp Duties Act 1923</i> , no stamp duty is payable on any instrument by which land or any interest in or right over land is granted or assured to or vested in the Company or on any contract or instrument executed by the Company for the purpose of disposing of any property.
	30—N	Inisterial delegation
40	(1)	The Minister may delegate a function or power of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to any person (including a person for the time being performing particular duties or holding or acting in a specified position).

	(2)	A deleg	gation un	der this section—
		(a)	must be	e by instrument in writing; and
		(b)	may be	absolute or conditional; and
5		(c)	does no matter;	ot derogate from the power of the delegator to act in a and
		(d)	is revoc	cable at will.
	(3)		-	ower delegated under this section may, if the elegation so provides, be further delegated.
10	(4)	signed this sec	by the M tion, wil f that the	ings, an apparently genuine certificate, purportedly inister containing particulars of a delegation under l, in the absence of proof to the contrary, be accepted e delegation was made in accordance with the
	31—A	pprova	ls by T	reasurer
15	(1)	An app	roval giv	ren by the Treasurer under this Act may be—
		(a)	specific	c or general; and
		(b)	condition	onal or unconditional.
	(2)		roval giv rer at any	ren by the Treasurer may be varied or revoked by the time.
20	32—R	egulati	ons	
	(1)			hay make such regulations as are contemplated by, or bedient for the purposes of, this Act.
	(2)	Withou may—	ıt limiting	g the generality of subsection (1), the regulations
25		(a)	provide includi	e for matters relating to subscribers to the Company ng—
			(i)	the manner in which a person may become, and the conditions under which he or she may remain, a subscriber; and
30			(ii)	subscription or other fees to be paid by subscribers; and
			(iii)	rights and obligations of subscribers; and
35		(b)	collecti	e for the use, care and protection of objects, works, ons or any other property under the care or control of npany; and
		(c)	membe	e for the admission, exclusion or expulsion of rs of the public to or from premises of the Company rt of those premises; and
40		(d)	prohibi Compa	t disorderly or offensive behaviour on premises of the ny; and

		(e)	smokin	t or regulate eating, drinking (including liquor), g or the consumption of unlawful substances on a part of those premises; and
5		(f)	prohibit purpose	t or regulate any other conduct or activities for the es of—
			(i)	maintaining good order, and preventing interference with events or activities conducted, on premises of the Company; and
10			(ii)	protecting property under the care or control of the Company; and
		(g)	-	t or regulate the driving, parking or standing of s on premises of the Company; and
		(h)	-	be fees for the parking of vehicles on premises of the ny and provide for their payment and recovery; and
15		(i)	or left s guilty o	that the owner and driver of a vehicle driven, parked tanding in contravention of the regulations are each f an offence and provide or exclude defences in to any such offence; and
20		(j)	-	for the management (including disposal) by, and in, the Company of unclaimed property; and
		(k)	officer	for the approval by the Board or an authorised of any act or activity that would otherwise be ted under the regulations; and
25		(1)	prescrib regulati	be penalties not exceeding \$1 250 for breach of any on.
	(3)	The reg	ulations	may—
		(a)	be of ge	eneral or limited application; and
		(b)		ifferent provision according to the persons, things or stances to which they are expressed to apply; and
30		(c)	dispens discreti	that any matter or thing is to be determined, ed with, regulated or prohibited according to the on of the Minister, the Board or another prescribed or authority.
35	(4)	-	•	or an offence against a regulation dealing with the or standing of vehicles—
		(a)	compla specifie	ation in a complaint that a person named in the int was the owner of a specified vehicle on a d day will be taken to be proved in the absence of the contrary; and
40		(b)	regulati	roved that a vehicle was parked in contravention of a on, it will be presumed, in the absence of proof to trary, that the vehicle was so parked by the owner of icle.

Schedule 1—Statute law revision amendments and transitional provisions

Part 1—Preliminary

1—Amendment of Acts specified in Schedule 1

- (1) The Acts specified in this Schedule are amended in the manner indicated.
 - (2) If an Act sought to be amended by this Schedule is, before the commencement of the relevant part of the Schedule, amended in a manner that renders an amendment contained in the Schedule ineffective, that amendment will be taken to have been struck out from the Schedule.

10 Part 2—Statute law revision amendment of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971

Provision amended	How amended
Long title	Delete the long title and substitute:
	An Act to establish the Adelaide Festival Centre Trust, to define its functions and powers, to provide for the Adelaide Festival Centre and its management and operation; and for other purposes.

Part 3—Statute law revision amendment of Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

Provision amended	How amended
Section 4(2) and (3)	Delete subsections (2) and (3) and substitute:
	(2) The Corporation—
	(a) is a body corporate; and
	(b) has perpetual succession and common seal; and
	(c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and
	(d) is an instrumentality of the Crown and holds property on behalf of the Crown; and
	(e) has the functions and powers assigned or conferred under this or any other Act.

Part 4—Statute law revision amendment of Libraries Act 1982

Provision amended	How amended
Section 6	Delete the section
Section 21(2)	Delete "shall be" and substitute:
	is to be
Section 36(2)	Delete "upon" and substitute:
	on

Part 5—Statute law revision amendment of South Australian Country Arts Trust Act 1992

Provision amended	How amended	
Section 4(2) to (4) (inclusive)	Delete subsections (2) to (4) and substitute:	
	(2) The Trust—	
	(a) is a body corporate; and	
	(b) has perpetual succession common seal; and	and a
	(c) can sue and be sued in its corporate name; and	5
	(d) is an instrumentality of th Crown and holds its prop on behalf of the Crown; a	erty
	(e) has the functions and pow assigned or conferred und this or any other Act.	

Part 6—Statute law revision amendment of South Australian Film Corporation Act 1972

Provision amended	How amended
Section 25	Delete "Where" and substitute:
	If
Section 25	After "his" wherever occurring insert in each case:
	or her
Section 25	Delete "shall" and substitute:
	must
Section 27(1)	Delete "he may state therein" and substitute:
	the Governor thinks fit
Section 27(3)	Delete "Upon" and substitute:
	On

Provision amended	How amended
Section 27(3)	Delete "a department, instrumentality or agency of the Government" and substitute:
	an administrative unit of the Public Service or any other public sector agency (within the meaning of the <i>Public Sector Act 2009</i>)
Section 27(3)	Delete "shall" and substitute:
	must
Section 28	Delete "shall" and substitute:
	must
Section 28	Delete "a department, instrumentality or agency of the Government" and substitute:
	an administrative unit of the Public Service or other public sector agency (within the meaning of the <i>Public Sector Act 2009</i>)
Section 29	Delete the section and substitute:
	29—Temporary road closures etc
	The Commissioner of Police—
	(a) may, on application by the Corporation and with the approval of the relevant council; or
	(b) must, on the direction of the Minister (on application to the Minister by the Corporation or any other person and after consultation with the relevant council),
	temporarily close a road or part of a road, or cause such directions to be given as are necessary to control the movement of pedestrians and vehicular traffic on a road or part of a road, during the making of a film being produced by or on behalf of the Corporation or the other person (as the case may be).

Part 7—Statute law revision amendment of *State Opera of South* Australia Act 1976

Provision amended	How amended
Long title	Delete the long title and substitute:
	An Act to establish the State Opera of South Australia and a Board, to define its functions and powers; and for other purposes.

Part 8—Statute law revision amendment of *State Theatre Company of South Australia Act 1972*

Provision amended	How amended
Long title	Delete the long title and substitute:
	An Act to establish the State Theatre Company of South Australia and a Board, to define its functions and powers; and for other purposes.

Part 9—Transitional provisions

5 **Division 1—Membership of Boards etc**

2-Membership of Adelaide Festival Centre Trust

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971.

- (2) A trustee of the Adelaide Festival Centre Trust (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 2 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a trustee of the Trust and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A person continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more of the provisions of section 6 of the principal Act as amended by Part 2 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Trust) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 7(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 2 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,
 - and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

3—Membership of board under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998.

- (2) A member of the board (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and

15

10

20

25

- (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 3 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office, 1 or more of the provisions of section 8 of the principal Act as amended by Part 3 of this Act (relating to the composition of the board) may not be complied with, and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

10 4—Membership of Art Gallery Board

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the Art Gallery Act 1939.

- (2) A member of the Art Gallery Board (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 4 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more of the provisions of section 5 of the principal Act as amended by Part 4 of this Act (relating to the composition of the board) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 6(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 4 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

30 **5—Membership of Carrick Hill Trust**

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the Carrick Hill Trust Act 1985.

- (2) A member of the Carrick Hill Trust (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 5 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Trust and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

40

35

15

5

25

- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more of the provisions of section 5 of the principal Act as amended by Part 5 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Trust) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 6(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 5 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

10 6—Membership of History Trust of South Australia

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the History Trust of South Australia Act 1981.

- (2) A member of the History Trust of South Australia (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 6 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Trust and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office, 1 or more provisions of section 5 of the principal Act as amended by Part 6 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Trust) may not be complied with and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

7-Membership of Libraries Board of South Australia

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the Libraries Act 1982.

- (2) A member of the Libraries Board of South Australia (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 7 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more provisions of section 9 of the principal Act as amended by Part 7 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Board) may not be complied with; and

20

15

5



30

35

40

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

- (b) section 10(1) of the principal Act as amended by Part 7 of this Act (prohibiting a person from being appointed for a term exceeding 3 years) may not be complied with; and
- (c) section 10(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 7 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

8—Membership of South Australian Country Arts Trust

(1) In this clause—

10

15

20

5

- principal Act means the South Australian Country Arts Trust Act 1992.
- (2) A trustee of the South Australian Country Arts Trust (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 8 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a trustee of the Trust and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office, 1 or more provisions of section 5 of the principal Act as amended by Part 8 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Trust) may not be complied with and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

9—Membership of South Australian Film Corporation

25 (1) In this clause—

principal Act means the South Australian Film Corporation Act 1972.

- (2) A member of the South Australian Film Corporation (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
- 30

40

- (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
- (b) on such other conditions as if the principal as amended by Part 9 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Corporation and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- 35 (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more provisions of section 6 of the principal Act as amended by Part 9 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Corporation) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 7(1) of the principal Act as amended by Part 9 of this Act (prohibiting a person from being appointed for a term exceeding 3 years) may not be complied with; and

se (2) despite the

(c) section 7(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 9 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

5 10—Membership of Museum Board

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the South Australian Museum Act 1976.

- (2) A member of the Museum Board (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 10 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more of the provisions of section 4 of the principal Act as amended by Part 10 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Board) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 5(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 10 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

25 **11—Membership of Board of Management under** *State Opera of South Australia Act 1976*

(1) In this clause—

principal Act means the State Opera of South Australia Act 1976.

- (2) A member of the Board of Management (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 11 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
 - (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more provisions of section 8 of the principal Act as amended by Part 11 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Board) may not be complied with; and

HA GP 020-B OPC 149

202

30

35

40

20

10

- (b) section 9(1) of the principal Act as amended by Part 11 of this Act (prohibiting a person from being appointed for a term exceeding 3 years) may not be complied with; and
- (c) section 9(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 11 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

12—Membership of Board of Governors under State Theatre Company of South Australia Act 1972

10 (1) In this clause—

principal Act means the State Theatre Company of South Australia Act 1972.

- (2) A member of the Board of Governors (within the meaning of the principal Act) holding office immediately before the commencement of this clause, will, on that commencement, continue in office—
 - (a) for the balance of that term of office; and
 - (b) on such other conditions as if the principal Act as amended by Part 12 of this Act had been in force when he or she was appointed or last re-appointed a member of the Board and that appointment had been made under the principal Act as so amended.
- 20 (3) A member continues in office by virtue of subclause (2) despite the fact that, for some or all of the duration of the balance of that term of office—
 - (a) 1 or more provisions of section 7 of the principal Act as amended by Part 12 of this Act (relating to the composition of the Board) may not be complied with; and
 - (b) section 8(1) of the principal Act as amended by Part 12 of this Act (prohibiting a person from being appointed for a term exceeding 3 years) may not be complied with; and
 - (c) section 8(2) of the principal Act as amended by Part 12 of this Act (prohibiting a person from serving as a member for more than 9 consecutive years) may not be complied with,

and, in that case, those provisions will not apply for that duration.

Division 2—Names, titles and logos declared under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

13—Names, titles and logos declared under Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998

(1) A name declared by the Minister by notice in the Gazette under section 22 of the *Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998* and in force immediately before the commencement of Part 3 section 28 of this Act will, on that commencement, be taken to be an official title declared under section 22 of the Act as amended by Part 3 section 28 of this Act.

5

15

25

30

35

- (2) A name or title declared by the Minister by notice in the Gazette under section 23 of the *Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998* and in force immediately before the commencement of Part 3 section 28 of this Act will, on that commencement, be taken to be an official title declared under section 22 of the Act as amended by Part 3 section 28 of this Act.
- (3) A logo declared by the Minister by notice in the Gazette under section 23 of the *Adelaide Festival Corporation Act 1998* and in force immediately before the commencement of Part 3 section 28 of this Act will, on that commencement, be taken to be a logo declared under section 22 of the Act as amended by Part 3 section 28 of this Act.

Division 3—Authorised officers and authorised persons

14—Authorised persons under Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Regulations 2007

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised person under the *Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Regulations 2007* immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 4 of the *Adelaide Festival Centre Trust Act 1971* as inserted by Part 2 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).

15—Authorised officers under Art Gallery Regulations 2002

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised officer under the *Art Gallery Regulations 2002* immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 3 of the *Art Gallery Act 1939* as inserted by Part 4 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).

16—Authorised persons under Carrick Hill Trust Regulations 1999

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised person under the *Carrick Hill Trust Regulations 1999* immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 3 of the *Carrick Hill Trust Act 1985* as inserted by Part 5 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).

30 **17—Authorised officers under** *History Trust of South Australia Regulations 1995*

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised officer under the *History Trust* of South Australia Regulations 1995 immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 3 of the *History Trust of South Australia Act 1981* as inserted by Part 6 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).

18—Authorised persons under Libraries Regulations 1998

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised person under the *Libraries Regulations 1998* immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 3 of the *Libraries Act 1982* as inserted by Part 7 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).

10

15

20

25

35

40

19—Authorised officers under South Australian Museum Regulations 2004

A person appointed and holding office as an authorised officer under the *South Australian Museum Regulations 2004* immediately before the commencement of this Division will be taken to be an authorised officer appointed under Part 3 of the *South Australian Museum Act 1976* as inserted by Part 10 of this Act and subject to the same conditions and limitations (if any).